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S e Meeting and Specic ing of the Board

Tuesday, November 04, 2025
4:30 P.M.

Committee Members:
Jennifer Santana, Chair
Charles Trevifio, Vice-Chair

*The Administration and Finance Committee meeting is noficed as a joint committee meeting with the Boord of Directors for the
purpose of compliance with the Brown Act. Members of the Board who are not assigned to the Administration and Finance
Committee may attend and parficipate as members of the Board, whether or not a quorum of the Board is present. To preserve
the function of the Committee as advisory to the Board, members of the Board who are not assigned to the Administration and
Finance Committee will not vote on matters before the Commities.

Communications

1. Call to Crder

2. Public Comment

Discussion/Action

3. Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. (Staff memorandum
and draft ACFR enclased.)

4. Additional Discretionary Payment for Upper District's Unfunded Accrued Liability with CalPERS and
Contribution to the California Employers’ Pension Prefunding Trust Fund (Staff memorandum
enclosed.)

5. Purchase of Untreated Water for Cyclic Storage (Staff memorandum enclosed.)

Oral Reports

6. Quarterly Investment Report - September 30, 2025
7. Policy Manual Update

Other Matters

8.

Adjournment

Next Meeting: Tuesday, December 02, 2025 at 4:30 p.m.

American Disabilities Act Compliance |(Government Code Section 54954.2(a))
To request special assistance to participate in this meeting, please contact the District office ot (424) 443-2297.
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MEMORANDUM
ITEM 3.
ACTION
DATE: November 4, 2025
TO: Administration and Finance Committee and the Board of Directors

FROM: General Manager

SUBJECT: Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

Recommendation
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors receive and file the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025.

Background

Upper Water's independent auditors, Rogers, Anderson, Malody & Scoft, LLP (RAMS), have completed
their audit of the financial statemenis for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. As in prior years, RAMS
expressed an unmodified or clean opinion on the financial statements.

Staff will also be submitting, for the 15th consecutive year, the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 to the Government Finance Officers Association of the United
States and Canada (GFOA| to participate in the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial
Reporting program.

Attachment
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October 24, 2025

To the Honorable Board of Director, Member Agencies, and Citizens
of the San Gabriel Valley

Introduction

The Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District (Upper Water) staff is pleased to present the
Upper Water's Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2025. This report is prepared in accordance with the guidelines set forth by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB).

Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information
contained in this report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal control established for
this purpose. Because the cost of internal control should not exceed anticipated benefits, this effort
provides reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial statements contain no
material misstatements.

Rogers, Anderson, Malody & Scott, LLP, Certified Public Accountants, has issued an unmodified
("clean”) opinion on the financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2025. The independent
auditor's report is located at the front of the financial section of this report.

The MD&A complements this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it.

District Profile

History

Upper Water, formed by voters in the San Gabriel Valley on December 8, 1959 to help solve water
problems in the rapidly developing San Gabriel Valley, was incorporated on January 7, 1960. On
March 12, 1963, residents of the District voted to annex to the Metropolitan Water District of
Southern California (MWD), to provide supplemental water, first from the Colorado River and later
the State Water Project, to replenish local groundwater supplies.

Upper Water played a vital role in determining water rights within the Main San Gabriel Basin by
acting as plaintiff in the 1973 court case of the Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District,
Plaintiff, v. City of Alhambra, et al, Defendants. This case brought about the creation of the Main San
Gabriel Basin Watermaster (Watermaster), ordered by the court to administer and enforce provisions
of the Judgment,

Upper Water's service area covers approximately 144 square miles and includes all or parts of 18
cities and portions of unincorporated Los Angeles County with more than 950,000 residents. Upper
Water partners with many public and private entities to provide a sustainable, high quality water
supply to residents and businesses within the greater San Gabriel Valley. Consistent with its motto
of “Where Solutions Flow,” Upper Water is widely recognized for its customer service orientation,
community involvement, and creativity in promoting water quality, water recycling, and water
conservation,
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Vision
Upper Water aims to support a high quality of life in the greater San Gabriel Valley by providing
valued water services.

Mission
Upper Water's mission is to consistently meet our region's need for reliable, high quality and
affordable water.

Core Values
Upper Water team, consisting of Board and staff, will embody the following core values in conducting
the business of the district:

#» Diversity — Our team will maintain an inclusive culture that is characterized by civility,
respect, and consideration of all viewpoints and reflects the community we serve.

~» Collaborative — Our team is collaborative, supporting each other's efforts, loyal to one
another, and cares for each other both personally and professionally.

» Innovative — Our team will encourage and value the introduction of new ideas and methods.
# Integrity — Our team will consistently adhere to high moral and ethical principles.

#» Professionalism — Our team will professionally, respectfully, and responsively serve the
needs of its customers.

» Transparency — Our team will interact with all in a fair, open and honest manner,

Service Area

Five elected Directors, each serving a 4-year term, govern and represent a designated geographic
area within the Upper Water's boundaries. Additionally, as a member agency of the Metropolitan
Water District of Southern California (MWD), Upper Water appoints one representative to the MWD
Board of Directors. Upper Water also has representation on the San Gabriel Basin Water Quality
Authority (WQA) and Main San Gabriel Basin Watermaster (Watermaster) boards.

Most of the water imported into the Upper Water service area is used to replenish the Main San
Gabriel Groundwater Basin (the Basin). A small percentage is purchased by city water departments
and private water utilities for direct sale to customers.




Upper Water Board of Directors

Division 1 — Director Anthony R. Fellow, Ph.D.
Representing all of Arcadia, Bradbury, Monrovia,
and portions of El Monte and Temple City

Division 2 — Director Charles M. Trevino
Representing all of Rosemead, San Gabriel, South Pasadena,
and a portion Temple City

Division 3 — Director Ed Chavez

Representing all of City of Industry, La Puente, South El
Monte, and the communities of Spy Glass Hill, Hacienda
Heights, Valinda and Avocado Heights

Division 4 — Director Katarina Garcia
Representing all of Covina, West Covina and portions of
Azusa and Glendora

Division 5 — Director Jennifer Santana
Representing all of Baldwin Park, Duarte, Irwindale and a
portion of E! Monte
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Local Economy’

Across California and its key regions, the outlook points to slower but still positive economic growth
through 2026. While inflation has moderated and personal income gains remain steady, headwinds
from trade policy shifts, natural disasters, and structural cost pressures will test the resilience of local
economies. Over the medium term, infrastructure investment, climate adaptation, and technology-
driven productivity gains will be critical to sustaining California’'s economic momentum,

California’'s economy performed strongly in 2024, with real gross state product (GSP) growth
reaching 3.6 percent, surpassing the national rate of 2.8 percent. Over the next two years, the
state’s economic expansion is expected to align more closely with national trends. Nonfarm payroll
employment increased by 224,600 jobs in 2024. However, job growth is projected to slow in 2025
and 2026 as the broader economy moderates, Real personal income rose 4.0 percent in 2024,
consistent with the state's robust GDP growth. While slower gains are expected over the next two
years, growth should remain solid at 2.2 percent in 2025 and 2.1 percent in 2026.

Los Angeles County's economy grew at a faster pace in 2024, with real gross county product (GCP)
expanding 3.4 percent, up sharply from 1.0 percent in 2023. The County's economic growth is
expected to moderate, mirroring state and national trends, with projected real GCP growth of 2.1
percent in 2025 and 1.3 percent in 2026. The County added 41,900 non-farm payroll jobs in 2024, a
0.9 percent increase from the previous year. However, job creation is expected to decelerate, with
projected growth rates of 0.7 percent in 2025 and 0.2 percent in 2026. Real personal income grew
3.8 percent in 2024, outpacing the national average of 2.9 percent and only slightly below the
State's 4.0 percent. Growth is expecled to ease to 3.1 percent in 2025 and 2.0 percent in 2026,
remaining at healthy levels, Persistent wildfire risk and the growing importance of climate resilience
remain key long-term economic and planning concemns.

Before the Eaton Fire, the San Gabriel Valley (SGV) economy was performing well across multiple
fronts. Employment was rising steadily, inflation pressures were easing, particularly for energy, and
housing prices were increasing at a pace consistent with the national average. Capital investment
was beginning to return to commercial real estate following recent interest rate shocks, and the local
office sector was outperforming much of the greater Los Angeles region. However, economic
indicators suggest economic growth will slow significantly, driven by reduced construction activity
and broader headwinds such as fiscal tightening and rising tariffs. The sweeping tariff measures
implemented by the federal government in early 2025 on imports from Canada, Mexico, China and
EU imports were met with retaliatory tariffs from Canada, Mexico, and China. Assuming these
policies remain in place, the cumulative impact is projected to reduce U.S. GDP by 0.5 - 1.0 percent
over the next two to three years. Given SGV's employment composition of above-average shares in
wholesale trade, health care, education, and leisure and hospitality, with transportation and
warehousing near the national average, the region is moderately exposed to tariff-related effects.
Projected impact is about 0.2 percent decline in employment or approximately 1,100 jobs lost
directly attributable to tariffs. Additional headwinds may arise from federal workforce reductions and
heightened immigration enforcement.

The 2025 Eaton Fire, which swept through Eaton Canyon and into Altadena, delivered a severe
regional shock, reshaping priorities across industries and governments. The combined effects of
tariffs and the fire are projected to result in a loss of roughly 6,500 nonfarm jobs in the San Gabriel
Valley, with manufacturing most affected, losing 2,900 jobs or 5.8 percent of the sector's workforce.,
Construction will face near-term contraction due to higher input costs (from steel, aluminum, and
lumber tariffs) and labor constraints. As rebuilding efforts intensify in subsequent years, construction
and infrastructure repair are expected to see notable employment gains in 2026. Overall nonfarm
employment growth is also expected to recover beginning in 2027 as the drag from tariffs subsides
and rebuilding efforts accelerate.

'Sources; San Gabrie! Valley Economic Parinership's 2025 Economic Forecast; Los Angeles County Economic Development
Corporalion's 2025 Economic Forecas!
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Major Initiatives

Consistent with its mission, Upper Water strives to assist local retail water providers in managing
their water supply safely and cost-effectively by improving water quality and increasing supply
reliability. This is a challenging goal because factors such as climate, water quality legislation,
regulations, government policy, economics, population, and market demand change affect Upper
Water's planning and operations. Upper Water's primary function has been to provide supplemental
water to its retail water providers, sourced from the State Water Project, the Colorado River, and
recycled water.

Imported Water Deliveries

Upper Water continues to champion policies supporting sustainable groundwater management and
fair treatment of San Gabriel Valley ratepayers and taxpayers.

The 10-year cyclic storage agreement executed in March 2022 by Upper Water, MWD and
Watermaster provides much needed flexibility in moving water into the Main San Gabriel Basin
(Basin) by allowing MWD to deliver and store up to 200,000 acre-feet of water in advance of demand
for water by Watermaster and Upper Water.

Between calendar years 2017 and 2019, MWD deliveries to its cyclic account, including transfers
from San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District's cyclic account, totaled about 160,630 acre-feet.
Because of shutdowns, scheduled maintenance work at the Santa Fe Dam, percolation and flow
issues, MWD was only able to deliver 29,525 acre-feet of this order to its cyclic account in 2023. In
December 2023, Watermaster and Upper Water purchased all the remaining water in MWD's cyclic
account totaling 53,630 acre-feet. MWD restarted water deliveries to its cyclic storage account in
June 2024 and has about 117,000 acre-feet of cyclic water stored by the end of fiscal year 2024/25.

As of June 2025, combined untreated imported water in cyclic storage accounts (Upper Water,
producers/Watermaster and MWD) represent about 21 feet of groundwater elevation at the Baldwin
Park Key Well.

Upper Water has been pre-purchasing untreated water for storage since 2015. As of June 30, 2025,
the District has about 3,200 acre-feet of water in its storage account. Upper Water may consider
future “preemptive” imported water deliveries while MWD has supplies available and can
accommodate deliveries. These future decisions may be economically viable utilizing District
reserves and continue the vision of a “wet water"-based management solutions.

The limitations on the USG-3 flows, including erosion at maximum capacity of 400 CFS, needed
maintenance at the County/MWD crossing, and the percolation capacity of the spreading grounds,
prompted the creation of a task force which has been meeting periodically to discuss improvements
and find solutions to these limitations. The task force includes representatives from Upper Water,
MWD, Los Angeles County Department of Public Works and Stetson Engineers Inc. Several
alternatives have been identified for consideration including cost sharing and funding options under
each alternative to minimize direct capital cost to Upper Water.

MWD relaunched its Reverse Cyclic Program (RCP) in 2024, this time including treated water, as an
additional revenue generating strategy. This program allowed member agencies to purchase
imported water during calendar year 2024 for deferred delivery in future years at MWD's discretion,
but no later than five full calendar years from the date of purchase. Upper Water purchased 6,000
acre-feet of RCP water in December 2024 - 3,000 acre-feet for its own account and 3,000 acre-feet
on behalf of Watermaster.

Upper Water submitted a Quagga Mussel Control Plan for approval by the Department of Fish and
Wildlife and the Los Angeles Flood Control District as part of Upper Water's efforts to get Colorado
River water (CRW) into the basin. The plan, which includes provisions for control and containment,
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post-delivery eradication, testing and monitoring, identified four sections of the San Gabriel River.
Control methods and monitoring strategies have been developed for each section. This effort can
potentially save up to 50 thousand acre-feet of SWP supplies annually. Upper Water intends to
annually review and update the Quagga Mussel Control Plan.

In October 2024, Golden Mussels were first detected near the Port of Stockton in the Sacramento-
San Joaquin Delta and were later detected at Check 24 of the California Aqueduct. Upper Water
subsequently initiated coordination efforts with TVMWD, SGYMWD, Watermaster and MWD to
develop a Golden Mussel Control Plan.

Fiscal year 2023/24 was the third and final year of the three-year purchase agreement between
Upper Water and Watermaster. Executed in December 2021, the agreement aims to address the
variability of untreated water sales and the growing gap between MWD's readiness-to-serve (RTS)
charge and the standby charge revenue MWD collects on behalf of Upper Water. It also supported
the overall management and sustainability of the basin by increasing Watermaster and the
producers’ purchasing power during years when there is excess demand for replenishment water,
Under the agreement, Watermaster committed to purchase a set amount of water each fiscal year
sufficient to meet the District's required debt coverage ratio in exchange for a right to purchase
untreated water in excess of the annual commitment at cost. Total surcharge waived by Upper
Water for Watermaster's purchases above the annual commitment totaled $5.14 million.

Authorized by the Board of Directors in October 2024, the General Manager negotiated a new letter
agreement with Watermaster regarding water purchases for fiscal years 2024/25 and 2025/26 that
would provide Upper Water a stable, alternative source of fixed revenue to cover its operating needs
and enable Watermaster to provide its share of the RTS charge. Under the agreement, Upper
Water agreed to use reserves to cover the net RTS cost of $1.65 million for fiscal year 2024/25 and
waive the per acre-foot surcharge on Watermaster's RDA water purchases for fiscal year 2025/26. In
return, Watermaster agreed to pay the gross RTS for fiscal year 2025/26 allocable to its untreated
water purchases as well as deliveries through USG-5.

Urban Water Management Plan

Every five years, Upper Water prepares and adopts an Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) as
required under the California Water Code. UWMPs are prepared by California’s urban water
suppliers to ensure adequate water supplies are available to meet existing and future water
demands. Every urban water supplier that either provides over 3,000 acre-feet of water annually or
serves more than 3,000 or more connections (either directly or indirectly) is required to assess the
reliability of its water sources over a 20-year planning horizon considering normal, dry, and multiple
dry years. Upper Water's most recent UWMP was adopted on June 10, 2020.

Integrated Resources Plan

In 2013, the Board of Directors approved Upper Water's Integrated Resources Plan (IRP). The plan
identified specific strategies and a preferred resource mix to overcome water supply challenges
through 2035. In 2016, an update was provided to the Board regarding changed conditions from the
previously adopted IRP. Upper Water's IRP update for 2021 was temporarily placed on hold to allow
MWD to complete its process. MWD adopted an updated IRP needs assessment in 2022 which has
since been expanded into a broader Climate Adaptation Master Plan for Water (CAMP4W). Working
with Stetson Engineers Inc. (Stetson), Upper Water resumed work in 2024 to update its IRP to
address significant changes in potential water resource programs and supply availability.

Upper Water continues to work with all stakeholders in developing and implementing innovative

conservation, recycling, groundwater recharge and storm water capture projects to improve long-
term water supply reliability.
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Recycled Water Program

Recycled water is a key element of Upper Water's overall strategy of supplementing local water
supplies. Recycled water is being used throughout California to irrigate golf courses, parks, freeway
landscaping and crops. It is also being used to replenish groundwater basins, to serve as a barrier to
seawater intrusion, and by industry for cooling processes and other purposes. Recycled water
directly offsets the need to import increasingly expensive water that is pumped from the sensitive
Bay-Delta ecosystem.

Upper Water's success in proactively advancing water recycling is largely attributable to the support
of its partners. The United States Bureau of Reclamation (USBR), State Water Resources Control
Board, Metropolitan Water District, Sanitation Districts of Los Angeles County, Watermaster, local
retail water providers and many others contributed to the successful development of recycled water
in the San Gabriel Valley.

Direct Reuse

The Direct Reuse Program includes the phased construction of a recycled water distribution system
used to provide water for irrigation purposes. Over $51 million has been invested to construct a
direct reuse recycled water distribution system consisting of more than 24 miles of distribution
pipeline. The major components of the direct reuse system are summarized below. All components
of the system are in service.

Whittier Narrows — The Upper Water's Whittier Narrows Water Recycling Project supplies the
2,500-acre Whittier Narrows Recreation Area with about 400 million gallons of recycled water
each year. The recycled water provides irrigation for a large public park, soccer, baseball,
and softball fields as well as the 18-hole Whittier Narrows Golf Course.

South El Monte High School - In 2007, Upper Water converted South El Monte High School
to recycled water for irrigating campus green areas and athletic fields. Recycled water used
at the high school conserves nearly 17 million gallons of drinking water each year, enough to
supply about 100 households.

Rosemead Extension — The San Gabriel Valley Water Recycling Project Phase 1A —
Rosemead Extension consists of recycled water pipelines extending north and west from the
Whittier Narrows Recreation Area to supply approximately 98 million gallons of recycled
water per year to Southern California Edison corporate headquarers, Panda Express
corporate headquarters, Walmart and several nurseries, schools, and businesses.

City of Industry — In 2010, the Upper Water's City of Industry Water Recycling Project began
providing recycled water for irrigation purposes by extending an existing recycled water
pipeline, stretching from the City of Industry through Hacienda Heights, to West Covina. The
project supplies more than 260 million gallons of recycled water per year for irrigation to a
landfill, golf course, baseball complex, schools, parks, medians, and green belts in the San
Gabriel Valley.

South El Monte and El Monte Extension — In 2014, Upper Water assisted the San Gabriel
Valley Water Company in obtaining $1.28 million in Proposition 84 grant funds to expand the
Whittier Marrows Recycled Water system to serve an additional 95 acre-feet per year of
recycled water in South El Monte and El Monte. The San Gabriel Valley Water Company
provided approximately $2.13 million to complete the facilities needed and began delivering
recycled water in 2019,

La Puente Valley County Water District Recycled Water System - In 2014, Upper Water
assisted the La Puente Valley County Water District in obtaining $428,000 in Proposition. 84
grant funds to construct a recycled water system to serve 60 acre-feet per year of recycled
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water in La Puente and the City of Industry. The La Puente Valley County Water District will
provide $1.57 million to complete the facilities needed. The construction award was
approved in December 2019. The pipeline construction is complete and recycled water
delivery began in October 2023.

Storm Water

Stormwater is often considered a nuisance because it mobilizes pollutants such as motor oil and
trash. In most cases, stormwater flows directly to water bodies through sewer systems, contributing
a major source of pollution to rivers, lakes, and the ocean. Stormwater discharges in California are
regulated through National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permits. However,
stormwater may also act as a resource and recharged to groundwater when properly managed.

Stormwater capture facilities in the Upper San Gabriel River watershed have substantial capacity to
capture precipitation that falls within the upper watershed. Facilities owned and operated by the Los
Angeles County Flood Control District capture runoff in three reservoirs in San Gabriel Canyon and
use the captured water to replenish the groundwater basin. These facilities capture over 95% of all
rainfall in the upper watershed.

The Los Angeles Water Board regulates discharges from medium and large municipal separate
storm sewer systems (MS4s) through the Los Angeles County, Long Beach, and Ventura County
MS4 Permits. These permits are issued under the NPDES Program. Upper Water assisted the San
Gabriel Valley Council of Governments in developing strategies toward reaching MS4 stormwater
permit compliance.

Water Use Efficiency

The effects of climate change are still being seen throughout California and while the groundwater
levels in the San Gabriel Valley have benefitted from two years of record water deliveries from USG-
3, the need for water use efficiency remains. Upper Water continues to maintain a proactive and
innovative conservation outreach program for our residents in the San Gabriel Valley. For FY
2024/25, Upper Water continued to implement residential and commercial water use efficiency
programs. Upper Water's approach is in keeping with the State’'s long-term framework for
conservation and drought planning titled, "Making Conservation a California Way of Life", which
outlines implementation of EO-B-37-16. The regulation was near completion at the end of FY
2023/24 and is expected to bring big changes to the water use expectations for both indoor and
outdoor usage within the region regardless of drought conditions.

In addition, AB 1572 has become a key focus for Upper Water and its producers, as the legislation
prohibits the use of potable water on non-functional turf at commercial, industrial, institutional (Cll),
and public agency sites. Upper Water is working closely with producers to support outreach and
education efforts so these new requirements can be effectively communicated and implemented
before enforcement begins in January 2027.

Water Conservation and Education

Water conservation is a vital and cost-effective method of preserving our water supply and is a
critical aspect of an effective, sustainable water supply program. Throughout California and the San
Gabriel Valley, cities, water companies, utilities, and water districts are deeply involved in
conservation and public education efforts that promote water use efficiency. Informing residents,
businesses, and our youth about water use efficiency remains a top priority of Upper Water's public
education program.

Residential Programs
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esidenti bate Program — Through MWD's SoCal Water Smart Regional Residential
Rebate Program, Upper Water's residents are offered rebates for retrofitting several types of
high water-use fixtures/equipment. Rebate items include the following: high-efficiency clothes
washers (HECW), premium high efficiency toilets (PHET), weather-based irrigation
controllers (WBIC), rotating sprinkler nozzles, soil moisture sensor systems (SMSS), hose
bib irrigation controllers (HBIC), rain barrels, cisterns, and turf removal. Rebates were paid
for 84,104 residential devices during the fiscal year that will produce approximately 552 acre
feet (179,919,412 gallons) of lifetime water savings.

WaterSmart Home Kit Program — Through MWD's Member Agency Program funding, Upper
Water innovated and implemented the WaterSmart Home Kit Program for disadvantaged
communities within the District's service area . The program was designed to replace the
WaterSmart Home Direct Install program. Each kit includes a variety of indoor and outdoor
water-saving devices such as faucet aerators, showerheads, toilet flappers, and sprinkler
nozzles that can be easily installed at home without a contractor. In FY 2024/2025, over 350
kits were distributed at community events and landscaping workshops, and were also
delivered directly to residents who registered online.

In FY 2024/25, Upper Water was awarded a $100,000 grant through the U.S. Bureau of
Reclamation's WaterSmart funding to expand the program to all residents within the service
area. The grant requires cost sharing which will be achieved through MWD funding and
allows for the disadvantaged community restriction to be lifted. Since 2023, almost 800 kits
have been distributed to residents.

Plant Voucher Program - In FY 2024/25, Upper Water received $100,000 from the U.S,
Bureau of Reclamation's WaterSmart Small-Scale Water Efficiency Project Grant to
encourage residents to replace their outdoor lawns with water-efficient landscapes. An
additional $100,000 was provided through MWD's Member Agency Administered (MAA)
Program, bringing total funding to $200,000. Through this program, residents can redeem
plant vouchers at Garden View Nursery to purchase waterwise plants. To date, 540 vouchers
totaling $135,100 have been redeemed.

Commercial, Industrial, and Institutional (CIl) Program

Cll Rebate Program — Through MWD's SoCal Water Smart Commercial Rebate Program,
Southern California businesses are eligible for rebates to help encourage water use
efficiency. This program offers rebates on a wide variety of water-saving technologies
including premium high-efficiency toilets (PHETs) and zero water urinals (ZWU), ultra-low
water urinals (ULWU), WBICs, rotating nozzles, large rotary nozzles, in-stem flow regulators,
irrigation master valves and flow sensors, pH-cooling tower controllers (pH-CTC), cooling
tower conductivity controllers (CTCC), dry vacuum pumps, connectionless food steamers,
ice-making machines, and turf removal. Rebates were paid for 14,926 Cll devices during FY
2024/25 that will produce approximately 196 acre feet (63,814,959 gallons) of lifetime water
savings.



Education and Community Outreach Programs

Watershed Restoration Program — This program is a cooperative partnership between Upper
Water and the U.S. Forest Service that incorporates volunteers into efforts to protect and
maintain the local watershed. Program activities typically include collection of native seeds,
planting saplings, and trash removal. During FY 2024/25, the volunteer events were held in
October and November 2024 as well as March and April 2025. A total of 210 volunteers
participated and over 830 trees were planted last fiscal year.

K-7th Grade Sustainable Watershed Education Program - The partnership with the
Discovery Science Center provides free water education programs for K—7th grade students
in Upper Water's service area, The curriculum combines interactive assemblies for K—5th
graders, hands-on workshops for 6th and 7th graders, and optional virtual sessions, covering
topics such as water use efficiency, watershed protection, and groundwater awareness.
Students engage in science-based activities that connect classroom learning to real-world
water issues. Over 3,000 students participated in the program in FY24/25.

Water Efficiency Workshops — Upper Water continued to offer both virtual and in-person
workshops, which were attended by over 220 participants. The District reintroduced the
popular firescaping workshop this spring in response to ongoing wildfire concerns.
Workshops will continue through the next fiscal year with Metropolitan Water District's new
consultant, Green Media Creations, while Green Gardens Group (G3) will continue providing
additional workshops. Upper Water also plans to partner with UC Master Gardeners to offer
further educational programs for the public.

\Water Engineering 4 Good — Previously called “Solar Cup” and sponsored by MWD, Water
Engineering 4 Good (WE4G) is an online STEAM competition for middle school through high
school students. Through this program, teams will learn from water industry professionals
about the current drought and create innovative engineering solutions to conserve water at
home, in industry, agriculiure, or in treatment and distribution. The teams will build a small-
scale physical model out of recycled/upcycled materials and an animated CAD model of their
engineering solution. The teams will also create a video journal and social media posts to
document their progress and develop a multimedia presentation of their engineering solution
that will be presented to and judged by a panel of water industry experts. Richard Garvey
Intermediate School in Rosemead, Team 2, was selected as the WE4G contest winner this
past fiscal year for their project designing a showerhead with a built-in water usage meter.

Waler Awareness Art Contest — Upper Water's art contest inspires students to think about
how important water is to all life and encourages youth to express the value of water through
their artwork. The contest has 4 categories: K-2, 3-5, 6-8 and 9-12" grade. There were 105
submissions and winners will be determined by the end of 2025 for the 2026 Art Contest
calendar .

Water Education Grant Program — The Upper Water's Water Education Grant Program
(WEGP) offers teachers an opportunity to apply for grants of up to $1,000 for proposed
school projects that are related to water. A total of 20 applications amounting to $15,787
were awarded during the 2024/25 school year.

Water Conservation Booths — Upper Water maintains an aggressive grassroots outreach
campaign to educate the residents of the San Gabriel Valley. Informational booths on water
conservation are hosted by Upper Water at city sponsored events such as summer concerts,
community, and environmental fairs. Upper Water participated in 45 outreach booths during
FY 2024/25.




Waterfest — Upper Water hosts an annual conservation event in parinership with the Los
Angeles County Department of Parks and Recreation. This educational event for residents,
families and children features interactive educational booths, environmental displays,
informative presentations, free water-saving materials, raffles and more. In FY 2024/25,
Waterfest moved to the spring for better weather conditions and to coincide with Water
Awareness Month. The event was a major success with over 50 exhibitors and
approximately 1,000 residents who participated in the one-day festival.

Conserve-a-palooza — Conserve-a-palooza is a virtual outreach program that uses social
media to engage and educate residents on water conservation. For FY 2024/25, Upper
Water held Conserve-a-palooza in the fall over a six-week period. Residents within Upper
Water's service area had the opportunity to participate by answering weekly conservation
trivia. Randomly selected participants received water-use efficiency devices as giveaways
ranging from high-efficiency toilets to native plant vouchers.

News Splash Newsletter — Upper Water continues to inform residents, stakeholders and
community leaders through its monthly e-newsletter called “News Splash”. Each monthly
edition includes water related news, information on Upper Water's conservation and
educational programs, water smart workshops, and water saving resources. The newsletter
is sent out on the first of every month to almost 11,000 subscribers.

Upper Water's Website — This past year, Upper Water completed a brand refresh to better
reflect our mission, engage the community, and provide clear, accessible information. The
updated website features a streamlined design that meets all accessibility and public access
guidelines for special districts. The site continues to provide valuable educational resources
and water conservation materials for residents, teachers, and parents. Through this
rebranding, Upper Water emphasizes its commitment to water resilience, sustainable
practices, and community engagement, reinforcing our role as trusted stewards of safe,
reliable water for the communities we serve,

Upper Water's Water 101 Tours — Upper Water remains actively engaged with the region's
local elected officials and offers educational programs on key water policies and issues that
affect the San Gabriel Valley. This year, Upper Water held a Hoover Dam/Colorado River
Aqueduct inspection trip and a State Water Project inspection trip with Metropolitan Water
District of Southern California. Upper Water also hosted a Water 101 seminar for
Assemblywoman Blanca Rubic's Young Legislators Program with Valley County Water
District. In May 2025, Upper Water hosted a regional water tour for a delegation of state
legislators and staff in partnership with Three Valleys MWD (TVMWD) , San Gabriel Valley
MWD (SGVMWD), San Gabriel Valley Water Quality Authority and Main San Gabriel Basin
Watermaster (Watermaster).

Water Smart Video Series — Upper Water continued with an aggressive messaging
campaign on local water quality and safety in FY 2024/25. Various informational videos were
created on the San Gabriel Valley's local water supply, water quality, gardening and
landscaping, and best practices for water conservation. The videos were shared through
social media as well as through commercial ads on specific Spectrum channels throughout
the region.

Finance and Administration

Upper Water remains committed to the effective and efficient management of its financial resources
through sound fiscal management. Over the years, the Board of Directors supported staff in creating
efficiencies and implementing cost containment measures within the District.
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Cash and Investment Management

Upper Water maintains a comprehensive cash and investment program governed by the California
Government Code. These regulations are embedded within the District's Investment Policy, which
outlines authorized investment types and associated restrictions. Consistent with the government
code, Upper Water annually reviews and adopts an invesiment policy aimed at safeguarding
principal investments, minimizing credit and market risks, ensuring sufficient liquidity to meet
anticipated operating needs for six months, and achieving a competitive portfolio yield. During the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, available funds were invested in compliance with this policy.

California Employers’ Retiree Benefit Trust Fund

In 2014, Upper Water began prefunding its other post-employment benefit (OPEB) liability through
the California Employers’ Retiree Benefit Trust (CERBT). As of the latest valuation with
measurement date of June 30, 2023, Upper Water's OPEB is essentially fully funded at 96%, having
total trust assets of $2.35 million and total OPEB liability of $2.45 million. As of June 30, 2025,
assets held in trust total $2.66 million.

The CERBT trust fund was initially established to take advantage of higher discount rate
assumptions which translate to lower annual required contributions and unfunded liability over time
as well as getting access to higher yielding investments. Since the trust assets have grown and now
sufficiently cover the OPEB liability, the trust fund can also now be used as an important budgeting
tool.

California Employers' Pension Prefunding Trust Fund

In June 2022, the Board authorized an additional discretionary payment of $1 million to CalPERS to
reduce Upper Water's unfunded accrued liability related to pension. Estimated interest savings from
this prepayment total $1.03 million using CalPERS' 6.80% discount rate. In June 2024, Upper Water
made another additional discretionary payment of $1 million towards the District's unfunded accrued
pension liability. Estimated interest savings from this additional payment total $0.76 million.

The Board also authorized participation in the California Employers’ Pension Prefunding Trust
Program (CEPPT) with an initial trust funding of $0.50 million in 2022 and an additional plan
contribution in FY 2023/24 amounting to $1 million. As of June 30, 2025, assets held in trust for
prefunding pension liability total $1.71 million. Similar to the CERBT, the CEPPT plan is a Section
115 trust fund that can be used to build a rainy-day contingency reserves for pension costs and
provide greater budgetary flexibility in the future.

Relevant Financial Policies

Internal Control Structure

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control structure that
ensures that assets are protected from loss, theft, or misuse. The internal control structure also
ensures that adequate accounting data are compiled to allow for the preparation of financial
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The internal control structure
is designed to provide reasonable assurance that these objectives are met. The concept of
reasonable assurance recognizes that (a) the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely
to be derived, and (b) the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by
management,

Investment Policy

Annually, the Board of Directors adopts an investment policy consistent with the requirements of the
California Government Code. In order of priority, three fundamental criteria are followed by the
Upper Water in the investment program:
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(a) Safely of Principal - Investments shall be underiaken in a manner that first seeks to
ensure the preservation of principal in the porifolio. Each investment transaction shall
be entered into after taking into consideration the quality of the issuer, the underlying
security or collateral, and diversification of the portfolio.

(b} Liquidity - Investments shall be made so that the maturity date is compatible with
cash flow needs and safety of principal.

(c) Return on Investment - Investments shall be undertaken to produce an acceptable
rate of return after first considering safety of principal and liquidity and the prudent
investor standard.

During fiscal year 2024/25, all funds were invested in accordance with Upper Water's investment
policy.

Designated Reserve Policy

Upper Water's adopted Designated Reserve Fund Policy sets prudent levels of reserve funds to
provide financial resources not only during emergencies or planned capital projects but also for
scheduled and unscheduled expenses such as operation and maintenance, debt service and
stabilization of rates. The Reserve Fund Policy establishes the following six designated reserves,
each with its own recommended minimum, target, and maximum levels: 1) Emergency Reserve; 2)
Operating Reserve; 3) Pay-go Capital Improvement and Replacement Reserve; 4) Capital Reserve;
5) Revenue Stabilization Reserve; and 6) Water Banking Reserve.

Budget Process and Controls

Budgets are often used as a performance tool for measuring accountability of public agencies to
their stakeholders. Though not legally required to do so, Upper Water annually adopts a budget not
only as a management tool for planning and control purposes but also to demonstrate its
commitment to fiscal responsibility and transparency. Upper Water also uses the budget as a
communication tool showing how the District intends to allocate its resources in support of its
mission, goals and objeclives.

Developing and monitoring the budget is an ongoing process. Upper Water conducts a series of
budget workshops to encourage stakeholder participation and input prior to adoption of the final
budget. Monthly financial statements showing budget-to-actual comparison and analysis are
presented to management and the Board of Directors to facilitate review and assessment throughout
the fiscal year.

Water Rates

Pursuant to Water Code Section 71614 et seq., Upper Water establishes water rates and charges
through a resolution by the Board of Directors. Prior to adoption of the water rates and charges,
workshops are held to solicit input from all stakeholders.

Awards and Acknowledgements

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Upper Water for its annual
comprehensive financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, This was the 14"
consecutive year Upper Water has achieved this prestigious award. To be awarded a Certificate of
Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized annual
comprehensive financial report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting
principles and applicable program requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. Upper Water believes that the
current annual comprehensive financial report continues to meet the Cerificate of Achievement
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program requirements and will be submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another
cerificate.

The preparation of this report was accomplished by the combined efforts of Upper Water staff. We
appreciate the dedicated efforts and professionalism that our staff members bring to the Upper
Water. We would also like to thank the members of the Board of Directors for their continued support
in the planning and implementation of Upper Water's fiscal policies.

Respectfully submitted,
Thomas A. Love Evelyn M. Rodriguez
General Manager Chief Financial Officer
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Independent Auditor's Report

Honorable Board of Directors
Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District
Monrovia, California

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Upper San Gabrie! Valley Municipal Water District (the
entity), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the entity’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the entity, as of June 30, 2025, and the changes in financial
position, and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America and State Controller's Minimum Audit Requirerments
for California Special Districts.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS), the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards) and
the State Controller's Minimum Audit Requirements for California Special Districts. Qur responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of entity and to meet our other
ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As described in Mote 1 to the financial statements during the year ended June 30, 2025, the entity
adopted new accounting guidance under Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement
Mo. 101, Compensated Absences and No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures. Our opinion is not modified with
respect to this matter.

Report on Summarized Comparative Information

We have previously audited the entity's 2024 financial statements, and we expressed an unmodified audit
opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated November 25, 2024, In our opinion, the
summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024, is
consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived.



Responsibility of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
errar.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about entity’s ability to continue as a
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the owverride of internal control.
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial |ikelihood that, individually or in the
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial
statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:

» Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

+ |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinien on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control, Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

+ Ewvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

» Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about entity's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings. and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required
supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it
o be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management about
the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to
express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual comprehensive financial
report, The other information comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the
basic financial statements and our auditor's report therean. Qur opinion on the basic financial statements
do not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
infarmation and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the
basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other
information exists, we are required to describe it in our report.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November XX,
2025, on our consideration of entity's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, confracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
entity's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

fc’ﬁm, Anctereon, Mnloa? 2 Adeot, LLP.

San Bernardino, California
Movember XX, 2025



Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) provides an overview of the financial
performance and activities of the Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District (Upper Water)
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. We encourage readers to consider the information
presented here in conjunction with the transmittal letter in the Introductory Section and with the basic
financial statements and related notes which follow this section.

Required Financial Statements

Upper Water is a wholesale water utility enterprise and presents its financial statements using the
economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting. As an enterprise
fund, Upper Water's basic financial statements include the statement of net position, statement of
revenues, expenses and changes in net position and statement of cash flows. The financial
statements also include noles that explain some of the information in the financial statements and
provide more detailed data.

The statement of net position presents information on all Upper Water's assets and deferred
outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference between
the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a
useful indicator of whether the financial position of Upper Water is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position presents information showing
how Upper Water's net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net
position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of
the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are recognized on an accrual basis.

The staterment of cash flows is related to the other financial statements by the way it links changes in
assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources to the
effect on cash and cash equivalents over the course of the fiscal year.

The notes to the financial statements provide useful information regarding Upper Water's significant
accounting policies, and they explain significant account balances and activities, certain material
risks, obligations, commitments, contingencies and subsequent events, if any.

Financial Highlights

» During fiscal year 2024/25, the producers and Watermaster made combined imported water
purchases of about 33,000 acre feet from Upper Water, a decrease of 31,600 acre feet or 49%
less compared to the prior fiscal year. This decreased water revenue by $25.06 million.

» Capital expenditures during FY 2024/25 mostly consist of costs associated with the upgrade of
Upper Water's audio visual and computer systems.

# In December 2024, Watermaster and Upper District made a combined prepayment to MWD of
$7.54 million for 6,000 acre-feet of treated water available through MWD’s Reverse Cyclic
Program (RCP).

* In June 2024, Upper Water made an additional discretionary payment of $1 million to CalPERS
to reduce Upper Water's unfunded accrued liability related to pension.



Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

More information on the financial statement variances is covered in the next sections,

Financial Analysis of Upper Water

The statements of net position and the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net
position report provide an indication of Upper Water's financial health. It provides a basis for
evaluating the capital structure and assessing the liquidity and financial flexibility of Upper Water.

The following tables summarize Upper Water's financial condition and the changes in its net position
for the past two years.

Statements of Net Position

Consolidated Statements of Net Position

As of June 30 Change
2025 2024 Dollar
(in thousands) (in thousands) (inthousands] Percentage
Assets
Current assets 5 30,216 £ 26,163 &S 4,053 15.49%
Lease receivable 61 a4 (23) -27.38%
Capital assets, net 53,767 54,805 {1,138) -2.07%
Total assets 84,044 81,152 2,892 3.56%
Deferred outflows of resources 1,732 2,808 (1.076) -38.32%
Liabilities
Current liabilities 6,104 2,014 3,190 109.47%
Moncurrent liabilities 6,118 8,041 (1,8922) -23.90%
Total liabilities 12,223 10,955 1,268 11.57%
Deferred inflows of resources 1,478 1,638 (60) -3.90%
Net position
Met investment in capital assets 48 467 48,922 (455) -0.93%
Restricted 1.712 1,563 149 2.53%
Unrestricted 21,895 20,983 912 4.35%
Total net position s 72,074 ] 71,468 & 606 0.85%

As shown above, Upper Water's total assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities
and deferred inflows of resources by $72.07 million and $71.47 million as of June 30, 2025 and
2024, respectively, or an increase in net position of $0.61 million.

Assetls

As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, Upper Water's cyclic storage account has about 8,300 and 8,500
acre feet of water, respectively, amounting to $6.57 million and $6.68 million, also respectively.
These are reported as part of current assets in Upper Water's statements of net position. The
increase in current assets of $4.05 million from FY 2023/24 to FY 2024/25 consists mostly of the
prepayment for 6,000 acre feet of treated water under MWD's RCP amounting to $7.54 million with
Upper Water funding half of the amount and Watermaster funding the remaining half.

The decrease in capital assets during fiscal year 2023/24 is mainly due to the annual provision for
depreciation.



Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

Liabilities

Upper Water's current liabilities as of June 30, 2025 increased by $3.19 million from the prior fiscal
year. This increase is mainly attributable to the unearned revenue associated with the prepayment
received from Watermaster for 3,000 acre feet of treated water purchased through MWD's RCP.

Upper Water continued paying down its State Revolving Fund (SRF) loan, reducing amount owed to
CSWRCE by $0.68 million and $0.67 million for fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024,
respectively. Net pension liability decreased by $1.22 million mainly due to the additional
discretionary payment made by the District to CalPERS.

Nel Position

A substantial portion of Upper Water's net position consists of net investment in capital assets,
Capital assets are used by Upper Water to provide services to its customers and are, therefore, not
available for spending. The decrease in net investment in capital assets of about $0.46 million during
fiscal year 2024/25 is due to the annual provision for depreciation offset by principal payments made
to the SRF loan related to Upper Water's capital assets for water recycling.

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position provide information on the nature and
sources of these changes. For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, Upper Water's net
position increased by $0.61 million and $1.29 million, respectively, as shown by the table below.

Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

For the year ended

June 30 Change
2025 2024 Dollar
{in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands) Percentage
Operating revenue

Water revenue 3 37,379 ] 62.017 -] (24,638) -38.73%
Water conservation 247 arv (130} -34.48%
Other operating revanue 106 104 2 1.892%
Total operating revenue ar. 73z 62.498 (24,766) -39.63%
Total operating expenses 43,241 67,331 (24,090) -35,78%
Operating loss {5,508) {4,832) (676) 13.99%
Standby charges 4,077 4,055 22 0.54%
Investment earnings, taxas, other 1,885 1.855 {70} -3.58%
Met nonoperating revenues 5,962 6,010 {48) -0.80%
Income before contributions 454 1,178 (T24) -61.46%
Capital contributions 127 109 18 16.51%:
Change in net position 581 1,287 & (706} -54.BE%

Met position, beginning of year 71,467 70,271

Met position, end of year 5 72,048 ] 71,558




Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

Operating Revenue

Upper Water's sold 31,600 acre feet less imported water during FY 2024/25, reducing water revenue
by $25.06 million. Snow and rainfall levels reached above average during the prior fiscal year and
groundwater storage increased to near average levels due to stormwater capture and imported water
deliveries.

Nonoperating Revenue/Expenses and Capital Contributions

MNonoperating revenue, generally consisting of standby charges, investment earnings and taxes, has
remained relatively stable over the years. In fiscal year 2024/25, Upper Water's standby charge rate
was set at $10 per acre per year or $10 per parcel less than one acre per year. This charge,
generating about $2.10 million, provides funding for the recycled and water conservation programs.
MWD levies a separate standby charge, set at $9.27 per acre or portion thereof per year, on behalf
of Upper Water. This charge generated $1.98 million during fiscal year 2024/25 and partially offset
MWD's RTS charge.

Operaling Expenses

Upper Water purchases imported water from MWD and sets its rates based on MWD's prevailing
rates plus a per-acre-foot surcharge. During fiscal year 2024/25, Upper Water sold 31,600 acre feet
less imported water and, consequently, purchased significantly less water compared to the previous
year. MWD also levies a readiness-to-serve (RTS) charge on its member agencies to recover a
portion of MWD's costs for ensuring a reliable water supply, including capital infrastructure for
emergency and drought water storage, and imported water system conveyance capacity. Upper
District's share of the RTS charge increased by $0.93 million from FY 2023/24 to FY 2024/25.

Capital Asset Administration
As of June 30, 2025, and 2024, Upper Water's investments in capital assets, net of accumulated

depreciation, amounted to $53.77 million and $54.91 million, respectively. The following is a
summary of capital assets:

As of June 30 Change
2025 2024 Dollar

(in thousands) (in thousands) (inthousands) Percentage
Intangible utility plant 3 657 5 657 § - 0.00%
Construction in progress 8.576 8,576 - 0.00%
Water recycling 52,105 52,105 - 0.00%
Building and improvements 7.569 7.569 - 0.00%
Furniture and equipment 291 204 &7 42 65%
Other 45 21 24 114 .29%
Subtotal 69,243 59,132 111 0.16%
Less accumulated depreciation {(15,477) (14,227) {1,250) B8.79%
MNet capital assets ] 53,766 & 54905 & {1,139) -2.07%

For more information regarding Upper Water's capital assets, please refer to Note 4 of the Notes to
Financial Statements.



Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Management's Discussion and Analysis
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

Long-term Debt

Construction activities for the City of Industry Project were partially funded by an SRF loan from the
California State Water Resources Control Board (CSWRCB) which, as of June 30, 2025, and 2024,
had a balance of $5.30 million and $5.98 million, respectively. Detailed information on Upper Water's
long-term debt is presented under Note 7 in the Notes to Financial Statements.

Water Rates and Other Charges

On May 22, 2024, the Board of Directors approved the adoption of a water standby or availability of
service charge at $10 per acre of land or $10 for each parcel of land less than an acre within Upper
Water's service area for fiscal year 2024/25. This charge generated about $2.10 million in revenue.

In October 2024, the Board of Directors adopted the water rates and charges for the different
classes of water effective January 1, 2025. Upper Water's water rates for the last ten fiscal years are
presented in the statistical section of this report.

Conditions Affecting Current Financial Position

Fiscal year 2023/24 was the third and last year of a three-year purchase agreement entered into by
Upper Water and Watermaster to address the variability of untreated water sales and the growing
gap between MWD's RTS charge and the standby charge revenue MWD collects on behalf of Upper
Water.

In April 2025, Upper Water and Watermaster executed a new letter agreement regarding water
purchases for fiscal years 2024/25 and 2025/26. Under the agreement, Upper Water agreed to use
reserves to cover the net RTS cost of $1.65 million for fiscal year 2024/25 and waive the per acre-
foot surcharge on Watermaster's RDA water purchases for fiscal year 2025/26. In return,
Watermaster agreed to pay the gross RTS for fiscal year 2025/26 allocable to its untreated water
purchases as well as deliveries through USG-5.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide Upper Water's funding sources, customers, stakeholders
and other interested parties with an overview of Upper Water's financial operations and overall
financial condition. Should the reader have questions regarding the information included in this
report or wish to request additional financial information, please contact Upper Water's Chief
Financial Officer at 248 E. Foothill Blvd., Suite 200, Monrovia, California 91016.
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2025
(With summarized comparative data for prior year)

2025 2024
Aszszats
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) & 6,358,952 9,693,172
Investments 6,108,252 5,804,135
Recehables
Waler sales 1,226,508 1,347,516
Leases (Mote 5) 23,781 23,032
Other 640,330 1,022,204
Prepurchased water 6,568,622 6,678,272
Prepaid expenses 7.579,027 31,577
Restricted:
Restricted cash and investments - Section 115 trust - pension 1.712,391 1,563,025
Total current assets 30,215,841 28,182,840
Moncurrent assets
Leases recelvable (Note 5) 60,575 84,336
Capital assels, not being depreciated (Note 4) 9,233,369 8,233,369
Capital assets, net of depreciation (Mote 4) 44,533,640 45,671,790
Total noncurent assets 53 B27 584 54,989,495
Tatal assels 84,043,425 81,152,435
Deferred outflows of resources
Pension related (Note 8) 1,324,550 2,390 993
OFEB related (Note 10) 406,982 416,889
Total deferred outfliows of resources 1,731,532 2,807,892
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable;
Metropalitan Water District 615,519 583,500
Other 778,900 919,354
Accrued liabllities 117,437 806, 325
Uneamed revenue 3,805,716 33,8656
Due to State Waler Resources Control Board, curment portion 695,564 683,231
Compensated absences, current portion (Mote &) 90,783 88,365
Total current liabilities 6,104,009 2,914 441
MNoncurrent liabilities:
Met pansion liability (MNote 8) 1,341,370 2,557,698
Met OPEB liability (Mote 10) 75,168 94,129
Due (o Stale Water Resources Caontrol Board, nel of current portion 4,604,574 5,300,137
Compensated absences, net of curmenl portion (MNote &) 97,938 89,024
Total noncurrent liabilities §,119,050 8,040,988
Tatal liabilities 12,223,059 10,955,429
Deferred inflows of resources
Lease ralated (Mote 5) 81,088 104,821
Pension related (Mote 8) B05,252 724,964
OPEB related (Mote 10) 591,644 708,235
Total deferred inflows of resources 1,477,984 1,538,020
MNet position
MNet imestment in capital assels 48,486,871 48,921,791
Section 115 Trust - pension 1,712,391 1,563,025
Unrestricted 21,894,652 20,982,062
Total net position 3 72,073,914 71,466,878

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025
(With summarized comparative data for prior year)

Operating revenues
Water revenue
Water consenation
Other revenues

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses
Sources of supply
Water quality and supply program
Water recycling
Consenation
Depreciation
General and administrative

Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Monoperating revenues (expensas)
Standby charges
Ivestment eamings
Lease revenue
Taxes
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Income before contributions
Capital contributions
Change in net position
Met position
Beginning of year, previously reported
Change In accounting principle

Beginning of year, restated

End of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statemenits.
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2025 2024
$ 37378542 $ 62,016,720
246,970 376,729
106,286 103,789
37,731,798 52,497 238
32 458,650 56,579,227
5,238,308 4,341,712
994 082 904,491
1,666,622 1,677,661
1,250,190 1,243,998
1,633,319 2,584,371
43,241,171 67,331,460
(5,500,373) (4,834,222)
4,077,722 4,055,273
833,230 1,033,807
27,077 .
951,341 921,344
5,989,370 6,010,424
479,997 1,176,202
127,039 108,944
607,036 1,285,146
71,466,878 70,270,841
- (89,109)
71,466,878 70,181,732
$ 72073914 § 71,466,878




Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Statement of Cash Flows
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025
(With summarized comparative data for prior year)

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash received from customers
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and sendces
Cash payments for employees for sendces

Met cash provided by (used for) operating acthvities
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Cash receivad from propery taxes
Cash received from non operating programs
Cash recelwed from standby charges
Met cash provided by (used for) noncapital financing activities
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Repaymaeant of project finance agreements
Capital contributions
Met cash provided by (used for) capital and related financing activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash received from sale and maturity of investments
Acquisition of imestments
Imestmeant eamings (lossas)
MNet cash provided by (used for) investing activties

Met change In cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
Baginning of year

End of year
Reconciliation of cash eguivalents and restricted cash and investments:
Cash and investments

Restricted cash and investments - Section 115 trust - pension

Total cash equivalents and restricted cash and investments

2025 2024
42,006,031 52,540,894
(49,537,1286) (57,319,949)
(672,788) (3,024 ,968)
(8,203,883) (7,804,023)
a51,341 921,344
27,077 B
4,077,722 4,055,273
5,056,140 4,976,617
(112,040) (131.641)
(683,230) (671.116)
127,039 108,944
(668,231) (693,813)
2,974,862 2,380,000
(3,177,048) (3,659,044)
B33,199 2,066,565
631,113 TBT.521
(3.184,861) (2,733,698)
11,256,204 13,889,802
B.071,343 11,256,204
6,358,852 9,693,179
1,712,391 1,563,025
B,071,343 11,256,204

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Statement of Cash Flows
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025
(With summarized comparative data for prior year), (concluded)

2025 2024
Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash
provided by (used for) operating activities:
Operating loss s (5,508,373) % (4,834,222)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss
to net cash provided by (used for) operating activities:
Depreciation 1,250,180 1,243,998
{Increase) decrease in assets and deferred outflows
of resources:
Receivables 525,916 (1,157 ,5086)
Prepurchased water 109,650 6,247 457
Prapaid expenses (7.547.450) 27,590
Deferred outflows of resources 1,076,360 (614,642)
Increase (decrease) in liabilities and deferred inflows
of resources:
Accounts payable and accruad liabilities (587,233) 344,629
Unearmed revenue 3,772,050 (8,775,105)
Compensated absences 11,332 4,552
Deferred inflows of resources (60,036) 19,997
Met pension liability (18,961) (519.841)
Met OPEB liability (1,216,328) 209,070
Met cash provided by (used for) operating activities s (8,203,883) § (7,804,023)
Schedule of non-cash operating, noncapital and capital related
financing and investing activities
Fair value adjustment ] 75436 § 168,097

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Notes to Financial Statements
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

NOTE 1:

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of the entity

Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District (Upper Water), which comprises an
area of approximately 144 square miles, was incorporated on January 7, 1960 under the
provisions of the Municipal Water District Law of 1911, as amended, (now cited as "The
Municipal Water District Law of 19117, Division 20, California Water Code) as a result of
a special election held on December 8, 1959, On March 12, 1963, the voters of Upper
Water elected to join the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California. On
MNovember 2, 1965, the citizens of West Covina voted to join Upper Water.

Adjudication proceedings, which established the legal determination of water rights of
individual pumpers in the area in relation to the safe yield of the total water basin, were
completed on December 29, 1972. The decree established a Watermaster, the Main San
Gabriel Basin Watermaster, who took over the function of levying and collecting the
assessments that had previously been levied and collected by Upper Water through its
reimbursement contract and replenishment funds.

Upper Water's mission is to consistently meet our region's need for reliable, high quality
and affordable water.

Basis of accounting and measurement focus

Upper Water is considered an enterprise fund for financial reporting purposes. The
accompanying financial statements have been prepared using the economic
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and the Uniform Systems of Accounts for Water
Utility Districts as prescribed by the Controller of the State of California. Under this basis
of accounting and measurement focus, revenues are recognized when they are earned
and expenses are recognized when they are incurred, regardless of the timing of related
cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they were
levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposed by the providers have been met.

Prior year summarized information

The basic financial statements include certain prior year summarized comparative
information in total but not at the level of detail required for a presentation in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, such information should be
read in conjunction with the government's financial statements for the year ended June
30, 2024, from which the summarized information was derived.

Net position

Sometimes Upper Water will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted
(e.g., grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to
report as restricted net position and unrestricted net position in the financial statements,
a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered
to be applied. It is the District's policy to consider restricted net position to have been
depleted before unrestricted net position is applied.
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Notes to Financial Statements
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

NOTE 1:

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
MNet position is categorized as follows:

s Net invesiment in capital assets — This component of net position consists of
capital assets, including restricted capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages,
notes or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or
improvement of those assets. If there are significant unspent related debt
proceeds at year-end, the portion of the debt attributable to the unspent proceeds
are not included in the calculation of net investment in capital assets. Rather, that
portion of the debt is included in the same net position component as the unspent
proceeds.

* Restricted — This component of net position consists of constraints placed on
resources through external constraints imposed by creditors (such as through
debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other
governments or constraints imposed by law through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation.

» Unrestricted — This component of net position consists of resources that do not
meet the definition of “restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.”

Upper Water distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and
producing and delivering goods in conneclion with an entity's ongoing operations. Upper
Water defines operating revenues as those realized by Upper Water in exchange for
providing its primary services for water sales and water programs including conservation
and recycled water. Nonoperating revenues are those derived from the investment of
cash reserves and from entities other than customers and other ancillary sources.

Pension

For purposes of measuring the nel pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of
resources related to pension, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net
position of the Upper Water's California Public Employees’ Retirement System
(CalPERS) plan (Plan) and additions to/deductions from the Plan's fiduciary net position
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CalPERS. For this
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized
when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at
fair value.

Deferred outflows/inflows of resources

Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net assets that applies to
future periods. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net assets that
applies to future periods. Deferred outflows of resources increase net position, similar to
assets, and deferred inflows of resources decrease net position, similar to liabilities.



Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

MNotes to Financial Statements
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

NOTE 1:

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Postemployment benefits other than pensions (OPEB)

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense information about the
fiduciary net position of the Upper Water's OPEB Plan and additions to/deductions from
the Plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by the Plan. For this purpose, the Plan recognizes benefit payments when due
and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value,
except for money market investments and participating interest-earning investment
contracts that have a maturity at the time of purchase of one year or less, which are
reported at cost.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and changes
therein, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Risk management

Upper Water is exposed to various risks of loss related to toris: theft of, damage to and
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters. It is a member of the
Association of California Water Agencies Joint Powers Insurance Authority (Insurance
Authority). The Insurance Authority is a risk-pooling, self-insurance authority, created
under the provisions of California Government Code Sections 6500 et. seq. The purpose
of the Insurance Authority is to arrange and administer programs of insurance for the
pooling of self-insured losses and to purchase excess insurance coverage.

On June 30, 2025, Upper Water participated in the self-insurance program of the
Insurance Authority as follows:

Property Loss — The Insurance Authority has pooled self-<insurance up to $10,000,000
per occurrence and has purchased excess insurance coverage up to $500,000,000, with
deductibles ranging from $2,500 to $50,000.

General, Auto and Public Officials Errors and Omissions Liability — The Insurance
Authority has pooled self-insurance up to $5,000,000 and has purchased excess
insurance coverage up to $55,000,000.

Cyber Liability — The Insurance Authority has pooled self-insurance up to $5,000,000 per
occurrence subject to a $5,000,000 aggregate limit.
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Notes to Financial Statements
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

NOTE 1:

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Crime — The Insurance Authority has pooled self-insurance up to $100,000 per
occurrence, with $1,000 deductible.

Workers' Compensation — The Insurance Authority has pooled self-insurance up to
$2,000,000 each for workers' compensation and employers' liability. The Insurance
authority purchases excess coverage up to the statutory limit of $4,000,000.

There were no settlements in excess of the insurance coverage in any of the three prior
fiscal years.

Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents have been
defined as deposits and highly liquid investments with maturity of 90 days or less at the
date of purchase.

Investments

Investments are stated at fair value (the value at which financial instruments could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
liquidation sale). Changes in fair value that occur during a fiscal year are recognized as
investment income reported for that fiscal year. Investment income includes interest
earnings, changes in fair value, and any gains or losses realized upon the liquidation or
sale of investments.

Capital assets and depreciation

Capital assets are recorded at cost. If applicable, donated assets are stated at
acquisition value on the date donated. The provision for depreciation is computed using
the straight-line method over the estimated service lives of the capital assets. Upper
Water uses differing capitalization thresholds for the classes of assets based on
materiality. Upper Water’s policy is to review for capitalization those expenditures greater
than $500 that have a useful life of more than one year. Estimated service lives for Upper
Water's classes of assets are as follows:

Distribution system 50 years
Building 50 years
Building improvements 10 - 15 years
Furniture and equipment 2 -10 years



Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

MNotes to Financial Statements
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

NOTE 1:

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Unearned revenue

Unearned revenue is water revenue paid by customers, as well as rental revenue paid by
a lessee in the current period but is yet to be earmed by Upper Water.

Compensated absences

Upper Water's policy is to permit employees to accumulate a limited amount of earned
vacation and sick leave. Accumulated vacation time is accrued at year-end to account for
Upper Water's obligation to the employees for the amount owed. It is management's
belief that the majority of the obligation will be utilized during the course of the next fiscal
year. Vacation pay is payable to employees at the time a vacation is taken, cashed out,
or upon termination of employment. Normally, an employee cannot accrue more than
thirty days of vacation each year.

Active full-time employees accrue one day of sick leave per month up to a maximum of
120 accrued sick days. Sick leave is payable when an employee is unable to work
because of illness or injury of employee, an immediate family member, spouse or
registered domestic pariner, or one other designated person. Upon retirement, an
employee will be paid for 50% of unused sick leave.

Overhead absorption

Certain operating expenses are allocated to capital assets using management's
allocation of manpower and service estimates that are directly related to the construction
of capital assets.

Contributions for capital acquisitions/construction

Contributions for capital acquisitions/construction represent cash and capital asset
additions contributed to Upper Water by federal, state, and local granting agencies.

Budgetary policies

Upper Water adopts an annual non-appropriated budget for planning, control, and
evaluation purposes. Budgetary control and evaluation are affected by comparisons of
actual revenues and expenses with planned revenues and expenses for the period.
Encumbrance accounting is not used to account for commitments related to unperformed
contracts for construction and services.

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Upper Water recognizes bad debt expense relating to receivables when it is probable

that the accounts will be uncollectible. As of June 30, 2025, all receivables were deemed
collectible.
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

MNotes to Financial Statements
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

NOTE 1:

NOTE 2:

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property taxes

The County bills and collects property taxes on behalf of numerous special districts and
incorporated cities, including Upper Water. The Upper Water's current year tax collection
is received through periodic apportionments from the County. The County's tax calendar
is from July 1 to June 30. Property taxes attach as a lien on the property on January 1.
Taxes are levied on July 1 and are payable in two equal installments on November 1 and
February 1, and become delinquent after December 10 and April 10, respectively.

Pre-purchased water

Pre-purchased water consists of imported water purchased from the Metropolitan Water
District and not immediately sold to client agencies. It is valued based upon purchase
cost and consumed on a first in, first out basis.

Implementation of new accounting pronouncements

The District adopted the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement
MNo. 101, Compensated Absences. This standard provides a unified approach for
recognizing and measuring all types of compensated absences, such as vacation and
sick leave. The related disclosures required by this standard are included in Note 6.

The District adopted the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement
Mo 102, Cerfain Risk Disclosures. This statement requires governments to evaluate
whether any events related to significant concentrations or constraints have occurred,
are occurring or likely to occur within 12 months of issuing the financial statements. As
part of this evaluation, the District reviewed potential risks and did not identify any events
or conditions that meet this criteria for disclosure under GASBE Statement No. 102.

CASH AND INVESTMENTS

Cash and investments are presented in the accompanying financial statements as
follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 5 6,358,952
Investments 7,818,643
Total cash and investments 5 14,177,595
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Notes to Financial Statements
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

NOTE 2: CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

Cash and investments as of June 30, 2025 consist of the following:

Imprest cash on hand $ 500
Deposits with financial institutions 889,198
Cash with ilvestment broker 4,676
Total cash 894,374
Local Agency Inestment Fund ' 5,464,578
Money markel mutual funds 1,279,015
U.S. Agency funds 1,543,990
LS. Treasury securities 2,972,870
LS. Corporate funds 154,611
Supranational 155,766
Total unrestricted investments 11,570,830
Imestment in Section 115 trust - pension 1,712,391
Total imlvestments 13,283,221
Total cash and investments b 14,177,595

) Upper Water iz a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Invesiment Fund [LAIF), a special fund regulated by the California
State Treasury through which each city, district or agency may invest up to 575 million. As of June 30, 2024, the total fair value
of LAIF, including accrued Interest was approximately $178 bifllon. Upper Watar's proporionate share of that value is $8.83
milion as of June 30, 2024, Investmends in LAIF are highly liquid, as deposits can be converted 1o cash within 24 hours without
loss of interest. LAIF has @ minimwm 55000 fransaction amowni in Increments of $1,000 with a maximum of 15 transactions
{combination of deposits and withdrawals) per month. LAIF requires a one-day prior notice for deposits and withdrawals of $10
million or more. As regards to credit rating, LAIF is unrated as of June 30, 2024

Investment policy

The Upper Water's investment policy outlines the guidelines required to be used in
effectively managing Upper Water's available cash in accordance with the California
Government Code. To address interest rate risk, the Upper Water's existing policy limits
the maturity of investments to five years, with the exception of special trust funds which
shall not be subject to this limitation. To mitigate credit risks associated with its
investments, the Upper Water's investment policy limits investments to large institutions
and requires diversification to ensure that failure of one issuer will not significantly affect
the Upper Water's cash flow.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair
value of an investment. Upper Water's investments in LAIF have a weighted average
maturity of 248 days, generally consistent with its cash flow and liquidity needs.
Investments in LAIF are highly liquid, as deposits can be converted to cash within 24
hours without loss of interest.

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the Upper Water's investments to

market interest rate fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the
distribution of the Upper Water's investments by maturity.
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Notes to Financial Statements
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

NOTE 2: CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

Maturities of investments as of June 30, 2025, were as follows:

Remaining maturing (in months)

12 Months 13to 36 37 to 60

Investment Type (including LAF) Total or Less Months Months

Local Agency Inestment Fund § 5464578 § 5464578 5 - g -

Money market mutual funds 1,279.015 1,279,015 = B
U.S. Agency funds 1,543,990 659,610 731,41 152,949
U.5. Treasury securities 2,972,870 1,300,846 1,519,821 152,203

U.5. Corporate funds 154,611 154,611 - -

Supranational 155,766 100,357 55,409 -
Total $ 11,570,830 5 B8,959.017 § 2306661 § 305,152

Concentration of credit risk

A concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributable to the magnitude of the Upper
Water's investment in a single issuer. The Upper Water's investment policy contains no
limitations on the amount that can be invested in any one issuer beyond that stipulated
by the California Government Code. As of June 30, 2025, there were no investments in
any one issuer (other than U.S. Treasury securities, agency funds, corporate funds, and
external investment pools) that represent 5% or more of total Upper Water investments.

The remainder of this page left intentionally blank.
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Motes to Financial Statements
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

NOTE 2:

CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
Custodial credit risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that the Upper Water will not be able to (a) recover
deposits if the depositor financial institution fails, or (b) recover the value of investments
or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party if the counterparty to
the investment or deposit transaction fails.

Deposits

The California Government Code requires California banks and savings and loan
associations to secure a local governmental agency's (agency) deposits by pledging
government securities as collateral. The market value of pledged securities must equal at
least 110% of an agency's deposits. California law also allows financial institutions to
secure an agency's deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a value
of 150% of an agency's total deposits. The agency may waive collateral requirements for
deposits, which are fully insured up to $250,000 by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC).

Deposits are exposed to custodial credit risk if they are uninsured and are either:

a. Uncollateralized;
b. Collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution, or by
its trust department or agent but not in the depositor-government's name.

As of June 30, 2025, Upper Water's deposits (bank balances) exceeded the maximum
deposit insurance amount by $670,335, which is collateralized as described above.

Investments

The California Government Code authorizes Upper Water to invest in obligations of the
United States Treasury, agencies, and instrumentalities; prime commercial paper;
bankers' acceptances,; repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements; financial futures
or financial option contracts; negotiable cerlificates of deposit, obligations of the State of
California; and obligations of local agencies within California.

Investments are exposed to custodial credit risk if they are uninsured, unregistered and
held by either:

a. Counterparty,;

b. The counterparty’s trust department or agent but not in the government's
name.
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Notes to Financial Statements
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

NOTE 2:

NOTE 3:

CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations. The Upper Water's investment policy limits eligible investments to large
institutions. As of June 30, 2025, Upper Water had the majority of its investments in
LAIF.

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation
to the holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a
nationally recognized statistical rating organization. Presented below is the actual rating
as of year-end for each investment type.

Credit ratings of investments as of June 30, 2025, were as follows:

Minimum Standard &

legal Poor's Rating

Investment Type (including LAIF) Total rating as of year end
Local Agency Investment Fund 5 5,464,578 N/A Unrated
U.S. Treasury securities 2,972,870 MIA Unrated
Money market mutual funds 1,279,015 A AAA
U.S. Agency funds 1,543,990 M/A AA+
.5, Corporate funds 154,611 MIA A+
Supranational 155,766 AB, AR,

Total % 11,570,830

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Generally accepted accounting principles establish a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Upper Water categorizes
its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to
measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs, while Level 3
inputs are significant unobservable inputs;

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active
markets that government can access at the measurement date.
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Notes to Financial Statements
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

NOTE 3:

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

+ Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active
markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive
market; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or
liability; inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable
market data by correlation or other means. If the asset or liability has a
specified (contractual) term, the level 2 input must be observable for
substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

* Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.

The following table represent the Upper Water's fair value hierarchy for its financial
assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

Fair value measurement using

Imnvestment by fair value level Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
.S, Agency funds $ 1543990 5 - £ 1543990 3§
U.5. Treasury securities 2,972,870 - 2,972,870
U.5. Corporate funds 154,611 - 154,611 -
Supranational 155,766 . 155,766 -
4827237 § - 5 4B27.237 5 -

Investments not subject to fair
value measurements:

LAIF 5,464,578
Money market mutual funds 1,279,015
Total investments % 11,570,830

Upper Water's investments in LAIF as of June 30, 2025 are reported at the Upper
Water's pro-rata share of the amortized cost provided by LAIF for the entire portfolio.

The remainder of this page left intentionally blank.
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

MNotes to Financial Statements
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

NOTE 4. CAPITAL ASSETS

Changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2025 were as follows:

Beginning Ending
balance Increases Decreases Transfers balance
Capital assets.
nol being depreciated
Intangible utility plant £ 656,874 5 - 3 B 3 - $ B56.874
Construction in progress B.576,495 . - - 8,576,495
Tolal capital assets. nol
being depreciated 9,233,369 - - - 9,233,369
Capital assets. being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 7.569,411 - - = 7,568,411
Water recycling 52,105,171 . - - 52,105,171
Fumiture and egquipment 203,564 87,668 B # 201,432
Other 20,964 24172 - - 45,136
Total capital assets,
being depreciated 59,899,110 112,040 - - 60,011,150
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (239,447} (159,097) - - {298, 544)
Water recycling {13,795,494) {1.072,636) - - (14,868,130)
Fumiture and equipment {171,415} {16,644) - - (188,058)
Cither {20,964) {1,813) - - 122,777
Tolal accumulated depreciation (14,227,320) {1.250,190) - - (15,477,510}
Total capital assetls being
depreciated, nat 45,671,780 {1.138,150) - - 44,533,640
Tolal capital assets, nat $ 54,905,159 5{(1.138150) S . g . £53,767.009

Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2025 totaled $1,250,190.

The remainder of this page left intentionally blank.
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NOTE 5:

NOTE 6:

LEASE RECEIVABLE

On February 10, 2022, Upper Water entered into a 5-year lease as lessor for the use of
an office space. The agreement, which was amended on November 30, 2022 to have a
commencement date of December 1, 2022, allows for additional one-year term
extensions, A lease receivable in the amount of $142,398 was initially recorded. As of
June 30, 2025, the value of this receivable is $84,336. The lease has an interest rate of
3.12% and requires the lessee to make fixed monthly payments of $2,166. Upper Water
recognized lease revenue of $27,077 during the fiscal year. The lessee's future payment
requirements are as follows:

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total
2026 5 23,761 & 2227 -] 25,988
2027 24,514 1,474 25,988
2028 25,290 698 25,988
2029 10,771 56 10,827

5 84,336 $ 4,455 3 88,791

Lease activity for the year ended June 30, 2025, is summarized as follows:

Deferred Inflow of Resources July 1, 2024 Additions Reductions  June 30, 2025

Office Lease £ 104,821 $ = $ 23,733 5 81,088
Lease Receivable July 1, 2024 Additions Reductions June 30, 2025
Office Lease 5 107,368 s - $ 23,032 5 84,336
COMPENSATED ABSENCES

Changes in compensated absences for the year ended June 30, 2025 were as follows:

Balance at beginning of year 3 177,389
Met addition 11,332
Balance at end of year 188,721
Less current portion 90,783
Long-term portion 3 97,938
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NOTE 7:

AGREEMENTS WITH STATE WATER RESOURCES CONTROL BOARD
Project finance agreements (direct borrowing)

In December 2009, Upper Water entered into four (4) project finance agreements with
the California State Water Resources Control Board (CSWRCB) for a total amount of
$17.02 million for the purpose of financing the planning, design, acquisition, construction,
and installation of the Water Recycling Pipeline and Pump Station Project Phase |IB.
Principal payments range from $75,541 to $527 409 varying by loan. These project funds
shall be repaid in annual installments commencing on the date that is one year after
completion of construction and payable up to 21 years at zero interest rate. In addition,
the Upper Water has pledged all net revenues for repayment of the debt. As of June 30,
2025, Upper Water has drawn down a total of $13,171,937 under this agreement.
Construction activities funded by the CSWRCB loans were completed as of June 30,
2013

Balance at the beginning of year 5 5,983,368
Principal payments (683,230}
Balance at end of year 5,300,138
Less short-term portion (695,564)
Long-term portion 5 4,604,574

Amounts due under the agreements, which include imputed interest, are as follows:

Fiscal year
ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2026 $ 695564 g 95,669 $ 791,233
2027 08,119 83,113 791,232
2028 720,901 70,331 781,232
20289 733,914 57,318 781,232
2030 747,162 44,070 791,232

2031-2033 1,694,478 50,310 1,744,788
Total $ 5,300,138 $ 400,811 $ 5,700,949

Upper Water repaid $791,232 during the year ended June 30, 2025, of which $683,230
is related to principal payments and $108,002 is related to imputed interest, excluding
accrued interest,

In the event of a termination, Upper Water has agreed, upon demand, to immediately
repay to the State Water Board an amount equal to installment payments due hereunder,
including accrued interest, and all penalty assessments due. In the event of termination,
interest shall accrue on all amounts due at the highest legal rate of interest from the date
that notice of termination is mailed to the Upper Water to the date of full repayment by
the Upper Water.
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NOTE 8:

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN
General information about the Pension Plan
Plan description

All qualified permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in the
Public Agency Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Plan)
administered by the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS.) The
Plan consists of individual rate plans (benefit tiers) within a safety risk pool (police and
fire) and a miscellaneous risk pool (all other). Plan assets may be used to pay benefits
for any employer rate plan of the safety and miscellaneous pools. Accordingly, rate plans
within the safety or miscellaneous pools are not separate plans under GASB Statement
Mo. 68. Individual employers may sponsor more than one rate plan in the miscellaneous
or safety risk pools. The District sponsors a cost sharing multiple employer defined
benefit pension plan. Benefit provisions under the Plan are established by State statute
and District resolution. CalPERS issues publicly available reports that include a full
description of the pension plan regarding benefit provisions, assumptions and
membership information that can be found on the CalPERS website, at
www.calpers.ca.gov.

Benefits provided

CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living
adjustments and, death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and
beneficiaries. Benefits are based on years of credited service, equal to one year of full
time employment. Members with five years of tolal service are eligible to retire at age 50
with statutorily reduced benefits. All members are eligible for non-duty disability benefits
after 5 years of service. The death benefit is one of the following: the Basic Death
Benefit, the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit. The
cost-of-living adjustments for each plan are applied as specified by the Public
Employees' Retirement Law.

The Plan operates under the provisions of the California Public Employees’ Retirerment
Law (PERL), the California Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA),
and the regulations, procedures, and policies adopted by the CalPERS Board of
Administration. The Plan's authority to establish and amend the benefit terms are set by
the PERL and PEPRA, and may be amended by the California state legislature and in
some cases require approval by the CalPERS Board.
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NOTE 8:

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED)

The Plan’s provisions and benefits in effect as of June 30, 2025 are summarized as
follows:

Prior to On or after
Hire date January 1, 2013 January 1, 2013
Benefit formula 2.7% @55 2% @ 62
Benefit vasting schedule 5 years senice 5 years senice
Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life
Retirement age 80 -55 52 -87
Monthly benefits, as a % of aeligible compensations 2.0% to 2.7% 1.0% to 2.5%
Required employer contribution rates (reporting period) 17.62% 8.63%

Contributions

Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law (PERL) requires
that the employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual
basis by the actuary and shall be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in
the rate. The total plan contributions are determined through CalPERS' annual actuarial
valuation process. For public agency cost-sharing plans covered by either the
Miscellaneous or Safety risk pools, the Plan’s actuarially determined rate is based on the
estimated amount necessary to pay the Plan’'s allocated share of the risk pool's costs of
benefits earned by employees during the year, and any unfunded accrued liability. The
employer is required to contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate
and the contribution rate of employees. Employer contribution rates may change if plan
contracts are amended. Payments made by the employer to satisfy contribution
requirements that are identified by the pension plan terms as plan member contribution
requirements are classified as plan member contributions. Employer Contributions to the
Plan for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 were $351,515.

Net Pension Liability

The District's net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the total pension liability,
less the pension plan's fiduciary net position. The net pension liability of the Plan is
measured as of June 30, 2024, using an annual actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2023,
rolled forward to June 30, 2024, using standard update procedures. A summary of
principal assumptions and methods used to determine the net pension liability is as
follows.
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NOTE 8: DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED)
Actuarial methods and assumptions used to determine Total Pension Liability

The collective total pension liability for the June 30, 2024 measurement period was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2023, with update procedures used
to roll forward the total pension liability to June 30, 2024. The collective total pension
liability was based on the following assumptions:

Valuation Date June 30, 2023
Measurement Date June 30, 2024
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal Cost Methaod
Asset Valuation Method: Fair Value of Assets
Discount Rate 6.90%
Inflation 2.30%
Salary Increase Varies by Entry Age and Senice
Mortality Rate Table' Derived using CalPERS' membership data for
all funds

Post Retirement Benefit Increase Contract COLA up to 2.30% until purchasing
power protection allowance floor on purchasing
power applies, 2.30% thereafter

' The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS-specific data. The rates incorporate
Generational Mortality to capture ongeoing mortality improvement using 80% of Scale MP-2020 published
by the Society of Actuaries. For more details, please refer to the 2021 experience study report from
Movember 2021 thal can be found on the CalPERS w ebsite.

Long-term expected rate of return

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined
using a building-block method in which expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each
major asset class.

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both
short-term and long-term market return expectations. Using historical returns of all of the
funds’ asset classes, expected compound (geometric) returns were calculated over the
next 20 years using a building-block approach. The expected rate of retumn was then
adjusted to account for assumed administrative expenses of 10 Basis points.
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NOTE 8:

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED)

The expected real rates of return by asset class are as follows:

Assumed
Asset Real
Asset Class Allocation Return'?
Global equity - cap-weighted 30.00% 4.54%
Global equity - non-cap-weighted 12.00% 3.84%
Private equity 13.00% 7.28%
Treasury 5.00% 0.27%
Mortgage-backed securities 5.00% 0.50%
Imnvestment grade corporates 10.00% 1.56%
High yield 5.00% 2.27%
Emerging market debt 5.00% 2.48%
Private debt 5.00% 3.57%
Real assels 15.00% 3.21%
Leverage (5.00%) (0.59%)
Total 100.0%

TAn expected inflation of 2.30% used for this period
? Figures are based on the 2021-22 Asset Liabiity Management Study

Change of assumptions
There were no assumption changes for the June 30, 2024 measurement date.

Discount rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for PERF C was 6.90%. The
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions
from plan members will be made at the current member contribution rates and that
contributions from employers will be made at statutorily required rates, actuarially
determined. Based on those assumptions, the Plan's fiduciary net position was projected
to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on plan investments was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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NOTE 8: DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED)
Subsequent events

There were no subsequent events that would materially affect the results presented in
this disclosure.

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Information about the pension plan's assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities,
deferred inflows of resources, and fiduciary net position are presented in CalPERS
audited financial statements, which are publicly available reports that can be obtained at
CalPERS’ website, at www.calpers.ca.gov. The plan's fiduciary net position and
additions to/deductions from the plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on
the same basis used by the pension plan, which is the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Benefits and refunds are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan. Investments
are reported at fair value.

Proportionate share of Net Pension Liability

The following table shows the District's proportionate share of the net pension liability
over the measurement period.

Fian Total Plan Fiduciary Flan Net Pension
Balance at; 6/30/2023 (VD) $ 13,711,299 $ 11,153,601 5 2,557 698
Balance at: 6/30/2024 (MD) 14,771,782 13,430,412 1,341,370
Met change during 2023-24 5 1,060,483 5 2,276,811 3 (1,216,328)

(VD) Valuation Cate, (MDY} Measuremant Date

The District's proportion of the net pension liability was determined by CalPERS using
the output from the Actuarial Valuation System and the fiduciary net position, as provided
in the CalPERS Public Agency Cost-Sharing Allocation Methodology Report, which is a
publicly available report that can be obtained at CalPERS website, at
www.calpers.ca.gov.

The District's proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plan (miscellaneous)
as of the June 30, 2023 and 2024 measurement dates was as follows:

Proportion share of NPL - MD June 30, 2023 0.05115%
Proportion share of NPL - MD June 30, 2024 0.02773%
Change - Increase (Decrease) (0.02342%)
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NOTE 8:

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED)

Sensitivity of the proportionate share of the Net Pension Liability to changes in the
discount rate

The following presents the District's proportionate share of the net pension liability of the
Plan as of the measurement date, calculated using the discount rate of 6.90%, as well as
what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is
1 percentage-point lower (5.90%) or 1 percentage-point higher (7.90%) than the current
rate:

Discount Rate - 1% Current Discount Discount Rate + 1%
(5.90%) Rate (6.9%) (7.90%)
Miscellaneous Plan's
Met Pension Liability ] 3,334,680 ] 1,341,370 5 (290,418)

Amortization of deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources

Gains and losses related to changes in total pension liability and fiduciary net position
are recognized in pension expense systematically over time.

The first amortized amounts are recognized in pension expense for the year the gain or
loss occurs. The remaining amounts are categorized as deferred outflows and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions and are to be recognized in future pension
expenses.

The amortization period differs depending on the source of the gain or loss:

All other amounts Straight-line amortization over the awerage expected
remaining senices lives (EARSL) of all members that
are provided with benefits (active, inactive and retired)
as of the beginning of the measurement period

Pension expense and deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related
to pensions
As of the start of the measurement period (July 1, 2023), the District's net pension

liability was $2,557,698. For the measurement period ending June 30, 2024 (the
measurement date), the District incurred a pension expense of $281,917.
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NOTE 8: DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED)

As of June 30, 2025, the District has deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions as follows:

Deferred outflows Deferred inflows

of resources of resources
Changes in assumptions $ 34,475 £ -
Difference between expected and actual
experience 115,974 4,525
Difference between projected and actual
investment eamings 77221 -
Difference between employer's contribution and
proportionate share of contributions 733,011 50,370
Change in employer's proportion 12,354 750,357
Pension contributions made subsequent to
measurameant date 351,515 -
Totals 3 1,324,550 5 805,252

The amounts above are net of outflows and inflows recognized in the 2023-24
measurement period expense. Contributions subsequent to the measurement date
reported with deferred outflows of resources will be recognized as a reduction of the net
pension liability in the upcoming fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows
and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in future
pension expense as follows:

Defarred
Fiscal year ended outflows/(inflows) of
June 30, resources, net
2026 ] (14,932)
2027 183,413
2028 25,765
2029 (26,463)
2030 -
Thereafter -

Payable to the pension plan

As of June 30, 2025, the District reported a payable of $16,469 for the outstanding
amount of contributions to the pension plan required for the year then ended.
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NOTE 9:

NOTE 10:

DEFERRED COMPENSATION AGREEMENT

Upper Water offers its employees a deferred compensation plan (DC Plan) created in
accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The DC Plan, available to all of the
Upper Water employees, permits them to defer a portion of their salary until future years.
The deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination, retirement,
death or an unforeseeable emergency.

All amounts of compensation deferred under the DC Plan are held in trust, not controlled
by the District and are not subject to the creditors of the Upper Water. Accordingly, the
assets and liabilities of the DC Plan are not reflected in these financial statements in
accordance with GASB 84,

OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB)
General information about the OPEB Plan
Plan description

Upper Water provides postretirement medical benefits to employees who retire directly
from Upper Water under a single employer defined benefit postemployment benefits
plan. In March 2014, the Board of Directors authorized the prefunding of OPEB through
an irrevocable trust, the California Employer's Retiree Benefit Trust (CERBT). The
CalPERS Board of Administration has sole and exclusive control and power over the
administration and investment of the CERBT. The plan itself does not issue a separate
set of financial statements. The CERBT plan does issue a separate set of financial
statements that can be obtained from the CalPERS website.

Upper Water's postemployment healthcare benefits provided to certain qualified
employees, directors and their dependents based on resolutions by the Board of
Directors are as follows:

* A Health & Accident and Major Medical Payments Insurance Policy, as
selected and approved by the Board.

* A combined maximum of up to $12,000 per calendar year, depending on
date of hire and applicable plan, for retirees and their dependents for medical
costs not covered by the insurance policy above and for eligible costs of
dental, vision and/or hearing.

These benefits are provided to each retired employee, hired full-time before July 1, 2021,
who has served the Upper Water for more than ten years before terminating employment
at age 55 years or older and each retired director who served in office after January 1,
1981, was elected to the board prior to January 1, 1995, has served not less than twelve
years or three full terms of office and has attained the age of 50 years.

COfficers and full-time employees who began service with the Upper Water, on or after
July 1, 2021, and has served the Upper Water continuously for a period of ten (10) years
or more and has reached the normal retirement age set by CalPERS while employed
full-time with Upper Water, but has not yet attained the age of 65 years or eligibility for
Medicare (Medicare Age) shall receive the same or equivalent medical benefits to that
offered to active employees of the same tier.
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NOTE 10: OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (CONTINUED)
Employees covered by benefit terms

As of June 30, 2023 (valuation date), the following employees were covered by the
benefit terms of the Plan:

Category Count
Active employees 10
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 7
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefit
paymeants )
Total 17

Contributions and funding policy

The Plan and its contribution requirements are established and may be amended by the
Board of Directors. In March 2014, the Board of Directors authorized the execution of the
prefunding agreement with the CERBT and fully funding the annual required
contributions (contractually determined) for OPEB.

During fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, Upper Water paid $256,782 in retiree insurance
premiums and health reimbursements. As the measurement date of June 30, 2024, the
Trust account balance was $2,478,213. The Trust assets are dedicated to providing
benefits to retirees and are legally protected from the creditors of the Upper Water and
the plan members. The Trust assets are not reported in the Upper Water's financial
statements.

Net OPEB Liability

Upper Water's net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2024, using an annual
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2023, rolled forward to June 30, 2024, using standard
update procedures.

Actuarial assumptions

This valuation assumes that the Upper Water will fund the Plan on an ad hoc basis, in an
amount sufficient to fully fund the obligation over a period not to exceed 28 years. The
Mormal Cost is the portion of the Actuarial Present Value of benefits allocated to a
valuation year. The UAAL is the excess of the Entry Age Mormal Actuarial Accrued
Liability over the Market Value of Assets.
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NOTE 10: OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (CONTINUED)

The total OPEB liability for the June 30, 2024 actuarial valuation was determined using
the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement,
unless otherwise specified;

Actuarial Assumptions:
Actuarial cost method
Assel valuation method
Inflation
Salary Increases
Investment Rate of Return

Entry age actuarial cost method

Fair value of assets

2.50%

2.75% per year

6.75% per year of net expenses; based on
assumed long-term return on  plan assets
assuming 100% funding through CERBT using the
Building Block Method

4.00% per year

Based on 2021 CalPERS mortality
miscellaneous and schools employees

Healthcare cost trend rates

Mortality rates for

The valuation used historic 28-year real rates of return for each class along with the
assumed long-term inflation assumption to set the discount rate. It offsets the expected
investment return by investment expenses of 50 basis points. Following is the assumed
asset allocation and assumed rate of return for each asset class:

Percentage of Assumed Growth

Asset Class Portfolio Return

All equities 49% 7.13%
All fixed income 23% 4.25%
Real estate investment trusts 20% 7.25%
All commodities 3% 7.13%
Treasury Inflation Protected Securities (TIPS) 5% 3.00%
Total 100%

Discount rate

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 6.75%. This assumes that
contributions would be sufficient to fully fund the obligation over a period not to exceed
28 years. The rate is based on the real rate of return expected for plan assets plans

plus long-term inflation assumption.

Change in assumptions

There were no assumption changes since the prior measurement date.
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NOTE 10: OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (CONTINUED)

Change in the Net OPEB Liability

Increases (Decreasas)

Plan Fiduciary MNat OPEB
Total OPEB Met Position Liability/{ Asset)
Liability (a) (b} (c)=(a) - (b}
Balance at June 30, 2024
(Measurement Date June 30, 2023) $2.447,335 $ 2353206 5 94,129
Changes for the year:
Service cost 72,480 - 72,480
Interest on the Total OPEB Liability 163,264 - 163,264
Investment gains and losses - 258 466 (258.466)
Benefit payments (132,892) (132.692) -
Administrative expenses - (767) Te7
Experience gains/iosses 2,994 = 2,994
MNet Changes 106,046 125,007 (18.961)
Balance at June 30, 2025
(Measurement Date June 30, 2024) $2,553,381 $§ 2,478,213 3 75,168

Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate

The net OPEB liability of the Upper Water, as well as what the net OPEB liability would
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (5.75%)
or one percentage point higher (7.75%) follows:

Discount rate Valuation Discount rate
1% Lower Discount Rate 1% Higher
Net OPEB Liability $ 364,743 $ 75,168 ] (165,495)
Trend 1% Lower Valuation Trend Trend 1% Higher
MNet OPEB Liability % (220,095) 5 75,168 $ 437,135
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NOTE 10: OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (CONTINUED)
OPEB expense and deferred inflows and outflows of resources related to OPEB

For the year ended June 30, 2025, Upper Water recognized OPEB income of $481 with
details as follows:

Total
Service cost ] 72,480
Interest cost on Total OPEB Liability 163,264
Expected return in assets (154,337)
Administration expense 767
Recognition of experience (gain)/loss deferrals (140,442)
Recognition of assumption change deferrals 10,313
Recognition of investment (gain)/loss deferrals 47,474
Total OPEB Expense (Income) $ (481)

As of June 30, 2025, Upper Water reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred
outflows
of resources

Deferred
inflows
of resources

OPEB contributions subsequent to

measurement date $ 256,782 5 -
Changes in assumptions 44 421 a7
Experience gains/iosses 26,864 591,557
Investment gains/losses 78,915 -

Total $ 406,982 5 591,644

The amounts above are net of outflows

and inflows recognized in the 2023-24

measurement period expense. Contributions subsequent to the measurement date

reported with deferred outflows of resources

will be recognized as a reduction of the net

pension liability in the upcoming fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows
and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in future pension

expense as follows:

Deferred
Fiscal year outflows/{inflows) of

ended June 30: resources
2026 $ (90,055)
2027 {51,573)
2028 (124,204)
2029 (109,956)
2030 (67,304)

Thereafter 1,648
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NOTE 11:

NOTE 12:

COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES, AND CONCENTRATIONS
Grant awards

Upper Water has received funds for specific purposes that are subject to review and audit
by the grantors. Although such audits could generate expenditure disallowances under
terms of the grants or contracts, management believes that any required reimbursements
will not be material.

Litigation

Legal claims and lawsuits arise from time to time in the normal course of business,
which, in the opinion of management, will have no material effect on the Upper Water's
financial position.

Construction activities

Upper Water has a variety of agreements with private contractors relating to the
construction of water recycling projects. Upper Water has no commitments from open
construction contracts as of June 30, 2025.

Concentrations

The major source of water supply in Upper Water's service area is groundwater pumped
from the Main Basin by its producers. Water demand in excess of local supplies are met
by imporled water sources.

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, approximately 93% of Upper Water's total water
supply was purchased from MWD. Because of this reliance, any interruption in the
availability of imported water from MWD whether due to hydrologic conditions, regulatory
restrictions affecting State Water Project or Colorado River water deliveries,
infrastructure limitations, or changes in MWD pricing policies could have a material
impact on Upper Water's operations and the cost of water delivered to its customers.

Upper Water continually monitors conditions affecting imported water availability and
cost and evaluates opportunities to enhance local water supply reliability. These efforts
include recycled water and conservation programs, and participation in regional water
reliability projects.

PRIOR PERIOD RESTATEMENT

In fiscal year 2025, the District implemented the provisions of GASB Statement No. 101,
Compensated Absences. GASB 101 establishes recognition and measurement guidance
for compensated absences, including expanded categories beyond traditional vacation
and sick leave, when certain criteria are met. The statement requires that a liability be
recognized for leave when (1) the leave is attributable to services already rendered, (2)
rights to leave accumulate, and (3) it is probable that the leave will be used for time off or
otherwise paid or settled.
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Notes to Financial Statements
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025

The implementation of GASB 101 resulted in the recognition of an additional liability of
$89,109 and a corresponding adjustrment to beginning net positionffund balance.

Beginning net position, as previously reported $ 71,555,987
Restatement due to change in accounting principle (89,109)

$ 71,466,878

Beginning net position, as restated
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of the District's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability and Related
Ratios as of the Measurement Date

Last 10 Years

Employer's Pension

proportionate plan's
Employer's share of the fiduciary net

Employer's proportionate collective net position asa

proportion of the share of the pension llability percentage of

collective net collective net as A percentage the total

pension liabllity pension Covered of the employer's pension

Measurement date {asset) lability ' payroll covered payroll liability
June 30, 2015 0.022304% 5 1.528.941 5 1,188,341 128.66% T9.89%
June 30, 2016 0.023155% 2,003,628 1,191,278 168.19% 75.87%
June 30, 2017 0.023753% 2,355,668 B43.618 249.64% 75, 44%
June 30, 2018 0.024108%: 2,323,080 1,127,628 206.02% 75.50%
June 30, 2018 0.024778% 2,530,000 1,310,022 193.81% 74, 39%
June 30, 2020 0.025300% 2,752,218 1,423,225 193,38% 74.39%
June 30, 2021 0.024779% 1,583,206 1,361,709 116.27% B6.16%
June 30, 2022 0.024520% 2,348 628 1,179,439 199.13% B0.97%
June 30, 2023 0.026145% 2 557, 608 1,191,332 214,69% B1,35%
June 30, 2024 D.026701% 1,341,370 137,111 97.83% 90.92%

' Proportion of the collective net pension liability represents the plan's proportion of PERF C, which includes both the Miscellaneous
and Safely Risk Pools excluding the 1859 Sundvors Risk Pool,
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District
Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Pension Plan Contributions

Last 10 Years

Contributions Contributions
in relation to asa

Actuarially the actuarially Contribution Parcentage of

determined determined deficiency Covered Covered

Fiscal year contribution contribution (excess) payroll Payraoll
June 30, 2016 5 228,626 ] {228,626) - - 3 1,191,276 19.19%
June 30, 2017 203,040 (203,040) - 943 618 21.52%
Juna 30, 2018 217 448 (217 ,448) - 1,127,628 19.28%
June 30, 2018 270,083 {270,063) - 1.310,122 20.61%
June 30, 2020 313,575 {313,575) - 1,423,225 22.03%
June 30, 2021 332,348 (332,348) - 1,361,709 24.41%
June 30, 2022 1,322,497 (322,497) 1.000.000 1,179,439 112.13%
June 30, 2023 357,339 (357,339) . 1,191,332 29.98%
June 30, 2024 1,300,977 (300,977) 1,000,000 1,371,111 94.88%
June 30, 2025 351,515 (351,515) - 1,449.177 24.26%

MNotes to Schedule:

Changes in Benefit Terms: There were no changes (o banefit terms that applied to all members of the Public Agency Poaol.
Howewer, indiidual employers in the Plan may hawe prowded a benefit improvement 1o their employees such as Golden
Handshakes, sendce purchases, and other prior sendce costs. Employers thal have done so may need to report this information
as a separate llability in their financial stalement as CalPERS considers such amounts to be separately financed employer-
specific liabiliies. These employers should consull with their auditors, Additionally, the figures above do not include any liability
impact that occurred after the June 30, 2023, salualion date, unless the liability impac! is deemed lo be material to the Public
Agency Pool,

Change in Assumplions: There weare no assumption changes in 2023 or 2024. Effective with the June 30, 2021, valualion date
{Juna 30, 2022, measurement date), the accounting discount rate was reduced from 7.15% to 6.80%. In determining the long-term
expacted rate of retum, CalPERS took into account long-term markel return expectations as well as the expected pension fund
cash flows. In addition, demographic assumplions and the price infation assumption were changed in accordance with the 2021
CalPERS Experience Study and Revew of Actuarial Assumplions, The accounting discount rate was 7.15% for measurement
dates June 30, 2017, through June 30, 2021, and 7.65% for measurement dates June 30, 2015, thmough June 30, 2016,
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of OPEB Plan Contributions

Last 10 Years*
Contributions
Contributions in asa

relation to the percentage of

Contractually contractually Caontribution Covered- employee

determined determined deficiency employee coverad

Fiscal year contribution contribution {ox coss) payroll’ payroll

June 30, 2018 -] 120,858 5 (240,082) 5 (119,176) S 1,294,581 18.54%
June 30, 2019 104,446 (247,802) [143,456) 1,366,231 18.14%
June 30, 2020 226,843 [226,843) - 1,448,600 15.65%
Juna 30, 2021 230,863 (1,078, 249) (B47,536) 1,077,504 100.07%
June 30, 2022 107.828 [209,650) (101,822) 1,465,290 14.30%
June 30, 2023 155,30 [155,240) 15 1,356,363 11.45%
June 30, 2024 83.082 (131,628) |48, 548) 1,396,210 9.43%
June 30, 2025 83,340 (256, 782) (173,242} 1,396.210 18.30%

1 Sanissutons s Ine DRFES. plas are not Saasd a8 msstine of sk

Notes to sche dule:

Actuarial methods and assumplions used to sel actuanally determined coninbutions for fiscal year 2025 wers from the Juna 30, 2023 actuanal

walualion.

Mothods and assumptions used to determine contributions:

Actuarial cost mathod

Amaortization methodology

Assal valuation mathod

Infiation
Payroll growih

Imesiment rate of retum

Healthcamn trend
Ratiremeanlt age

Morality

Entry age actuarial gost method

Stralght-line recognition over the expected awerage remaining senice lifetime (EARSL) of all members that
are provided with benefits as of the beginning of the Measurement Perod. In determining the EARSL, all
acihe, retired, and inactive (vested) members are counted, with the latter two groups having O remaining
senioe yearn

Fair valua of assats

2.50%

2.75% per year

6.75% per year of net expenses

4. 0% per year

Hired 2013 and later: 2021 CalPERS 2.0% @62 rates for Miscellaneous Employees; Hired 2012 and earfiar.
2021 CalPERS 2.7%@55 rales for Miscellaneous Employess

2021 CalPERS Mortality for Miscellansous and Schools Employees

* Hestorical information is required only for measurement periods for which it is applicable, Future years' information will be displayed up to 10
years as information becomes awallable,
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Statistical Section

This part of the Upper Water's annual comprehensive financial report presents detailed information
as a context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures,
and required supplementary information says about the Upper Water's overall financial health.

Table of Contents

Page

Financial Trends

These schedules contain information to help the reader understand how

the Upper Water's financial performance and financial condition have

changed over time. 44
Revenue Capacity

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the

Upper Water's most significant own-source revenue, water sales. 46
Demographic Information

This schedule offers demographic indicators to help the reader

understand the environment within which the Upper Water's financial

activities take place. 52
Operating Information

This schedule contains service and infrastructure data to help the

reader understand how the information in the Upper Water's financial

report relates to the service the Upper Water provides. 54
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Net Position by Component
Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited) SRl

(In Thousands)
Net Investment
June 30 in Capital Assets Restricted Unrestricted Total
2016 43,278 - 12,587 55,865
2017 44 009 - 14,237 58,246
2018 43,847 - 14,872 58,719
2019 43,768 - 17,578 61,346
2020 46,885 - 15,706 62,591
2021 46,707 - 19.831 66,538
2022 48 485 - 20,725 69,210
2023 49 471 525 20,275 70,271
2024 48 922 1,563 20,982 71.467
2025 48 467 1,712 21,895 72,074
80,000
70,000
60,000
T 50,000
g
3 40,000
P
£ 30,000
20,000
10,000

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

® Net Investment in Capital Assets ® Unrestricted = Restricted

Source: Finance and Administration Department



Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Operating Revenues by Major Source
~ Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited) -—— -

(In Thousands)

Fiscal Year Water Other Operating Total Operating

Ended June 30 Water Revenue Conservation Revenues Revenues

2016 19,670 996 134 20,800

2017 37,646 430 78 38,154

2018 21,880 713 77 22,670

2019 37,459 837 &8 38,384

2020 32.810 372 206 33,388

2021 55,708 Ky 115 55,854

2022 47,256 507 1,077 48,840

2023 45,892 313 a0 46,295

2024 62,016 377 104 62,497

2025 37,379 247 106 37,732
70,000

60,000

50,000

40,000

30,000

In Thousands

20,000

10,000

2006 2017 2018 2018 2020 2021 - 2022 2023 2024 2025

® Water Revenue  ®Water Conservation @ Other Operating Revenues

Source: Finance and Administration Deparimeni
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Operating Expenses by Activity
Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

(In Thousands)
Fiscal Year Water Depreciation Total
Ended Sources of  Quality and Water and General and  Operating
June 30 Supply Supply Recyeling  Conservation Amortization Administrative Expenses
20186 16,345 2,342 1,086 2127 1,121 1,890 24 89
2047 31.502 2,441 1.650 2,020 1.100 1.944 40.857
2018 18,590 2,569 2,008 2,049 1.080 1,684 27,990
2019 31,458 2,782 883 2,335 1,111 2,057 40,628
2020 28,321 2962 938 1,695 1,102 2,373 37,392
2021 48,111 aanr 805 1,265 1,107 2,569 57,164
2022 41,557 3443 828 1,803 1,102 2,257 50,990
2023 41,001 3,507 936 1,487 1,178 2,638 50,748
2024 56,579 4342 a0n4 1678 1,244 2,584 67,31
2025 32.459 5,238 984 1,667 1.250 1.633 43241
80,000
70,000
B0.000
E oo
g 000
E 40,000
™
£ 30000
20000
10.000

2016

207

28

® Sources of Supply
u Consarvation

2019

8 Water Quality and Supply
« Depreciation and Amaorlization ®General and Admenistrative

Source: Finance and Administration Department

2020

2021

022 2023

= Waler Recyoing

2024

2025



Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Imported Water Deliveries
Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited) =
(In Acre Feet)
Fiscal Year Full Service
Ended June 30 Treated Untreated Total
2016 2,495 22,254 24,749
2017 3,197 45,813 49,010
2018 4,204 19,273 23,477
2019 5,420 36,421 41,841
2020 6,026 28,616 34 642
2021 5,146 54,895 60,041
2022 5,069 44 582 49 651
2023 3,734 44 614 48,348
2024 2,784 61,851 64,635
2025 3,374 29,616 32,990
70,000
60,000
50,000
3 40,000
I+
o
g 30,000
20,000
10,000

2006 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

W Full Service Unireated ® Treated

Source: Finance and Administration Department
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Imported Water Rates and Charges

Fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 (Unaudited)

Rate per Acre-Foot

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025

July 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024

Full Service Treated Tier 1 b
Full Service Treated Tier 2

Full Service Untreated Tier 1

Full Service Untreated Tier 2

January 1, 2025 to June 30, 2025
Full Service Treated %
Full Service Untreated

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024

July 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023

Full Service Treated Tier 1 b
Full Service Treated Tier 2

Full Service Untreated Tier 1

Full Service Untreated Tier 2

January 1, 2024 to June 30, 2024

Full Service Treated Tier 1 $
Full Service Treated Tier 2

Full Service Untreated Tier 1

Full Service Untreated Tier 2

Source: Finance and Administration Department
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Upper

District
MWD Surcharge
1,256 103
1,455 103
a03 103
1,102 103
1,395 103
912 103
1,209 103
1,418 103
855 103
1,064 103
1.256 103
1,455 103
ap3 103
1,102 103

Total

1,359
1,558
1,006
1,205

1,498
1,015

1,312
1,521

958
1,167

1,359
1,558
1,006
1,205



Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Water Rates per Acre Foot
Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

Full Service Full Service Full Service Full Service
As of June 30 Treated Tier1 Treated Tier2 Untreated Tier1 Untreated Tier 2

2016 1,045 1,179 697 831
2017 1,082 1,176 769 863
2018 1,118 1,204 798 884
2019 1,153 1,239 834 920
2020 1,181 1,268 858 945
2021 1,207 1,249 880 922
2022 1,246 1,288 902 944
2023 1,312 1,521 958 1,167
2024 1,358 1,558 1,006 1,205
2025 1,498 nfa 1.015 n/a

Source: Finance and Administration Department
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Demographics and Economic Statistics — Los Angeles County
Last Ten Calendar Years (Unaudited)

Fiscal Population Real GDP Unemployment
Year (In Millions) Growth Rate
2016 10.2 2.4% 5.3%
2017 10.2 3.5% 4.8%
2018 10.1 3.4% 4.8%
2019 10.2 3.6% 4.5%
2020 10.0 -4.9% 12.3%
2021 10.0 (e) 6.1% 9.0%
2022 9.8 (e) 2.4% 5.0%
2023 9.8 (e) 1.0% 5.0%
2024 9.8 (e) 3.4% 5.7%
2025 9.8 (e) 2.1% (f) 5.5% (f)
MNotes:
:.ifggl;:::zter befigvas that trends shown by these data are indicative of conditions within its service area.
(N Forecast

Sources: Los Angeles County Economic Developmeni Corporation's 2025 Economic Forecas!
Census Bureau Data and the Los Angeles Almanac
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Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District

Ten Largest Employers in Los Angeles County
June 30, 2025 (Unaudited)

Employer Number of Employees
County of Los Angeles 104,100
Los Angeles Unified School District 97,200
University of California, Los Angeles 72,100
City of Los Angeles 70,700
Kaiser Permanente 47,400
Federal Government (except defense and state) 45,500
State of California (non-education) 35,200
University of Southern California 24,000
Morthrop Grumman Corp. 18,700
Los Angeles County Metropolitan Authority 13,400
Walt Disney Co. 13,400

Source: Los Angeles Almanac (2024)
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Moo, CA. 91018 " 626-843.2297 ¢ infoausgvmwd.org
MEMORANDUM
ITEM 4.
ACTION
DATE: Movember 4, 2025
TO: Administration and Finance Committee and the Board of Directors

FROM: General Manager

SUBJECT: Additional Discretionary Payment for Upper Water's Unfunded Accrued Liability with CalPERS
and Contribution to the Cadlifornia Employers' Pension Prefunding Trust Fund

Recommendation
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors:
1. Authorize an additional discretionary payment of $500 thousand to CalPERS fo reduce Upper
Water's unfunded accrued liability related to pension.
2. Authorize additional contribution to the California Employers' Pension Prefunding Trust Program
(CEPPT) Program of $500 thousand.
Background
Additional Discretionary Payment for CalPERS UAL
From 2022 to 2024, the Board of Directors authorized additional discretionary payments (ADP) to CalPERS
totaling $2 million. These additional payments increased Upper Water's funded ratio from 72% to 88% as of
the most recent valuation report with measurement date June 30, 2024, Upper Water's unfunded accrued
liability (UAL) for pension amount to $1.83 million as of the last valuation.

Working with a CalPERS actuary, staff ran scenarios assuming an additional payment of $500 thousand.
Results showed that that this additional payment could potentially save the District about $281 thousand in
interest payments over 10 years using CalPERS' current discount rate of 4.8.

Additional it to the CEPPT, a Section 115 Irevocable Trust

In 2022, the Board authorized the establishment of a CEPPT trust fund, a self-funded, not-for-profit, Section
115 trust administered by CalPERS for pension contributions. From 2022 to 2024, the District deposited a toral
of $1.50 million into the trust fund. The market value of Upper Water's CEPPT fund as of the quarter ended
September 30, 2025 is $1.78 million which translates to an annual yield of 9.74%. CEPPT funds can be
accessed to stabilize rates and offset future contribution increases and act as a rainy-day fund during
adverse budgetary or economic conditions.

Attachment

UPPER SAN GABRIEL VALLEY MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT
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MEMORANDUM

ITEM 5.
ACTION
DATE: November 4, 2025

T0: Administration and Finance Committee and the Board of Directors
FROM: General Manager

SUBJECT: Purchase of Untreated Water for Cyclic Storage

Recommendation
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors authorize the General Manager to purchase up to 7.500
acre feet of untreated water for Upper District's cyclic storage account.

Background

Between 2014 and 2023, Upper Water purchased more than 16,000 acre feet of untreated water for cyclic
storage. As of October 31#, Upper Water has sold about 13,000 acre feet of water at prices reflecting the
cumulative annual increases in Metropolitan’s untreated water rates, generating a favorable financial
return, Since 2014, Metropolitan's untreated water rate has increased by approximately 54% or an
average of 4.50% per year. Metropolitan’s rate for untreated water will increase by 7.89% effective
January 2024, providing good investment return on water pre-purchases.

As of October 31, 2025, Upper Water has sufficient reserve funds to purchase up to 7,500 acre feet of
untreated water for cyclic storage. As of the same date, Metropolitan's cyclic storage account has
147,300 acre feet of water available for purchase.

Beyond the financial advantages, maintaining an active storage account provides operational benefits.
Adequate storage participation supports Metropolitan's system flexibility and enhances the likelihood of
future delivery opportunities during periods when State Water Project deliveries are favorable. This helps
ensure Upper Water continues to have reliable access fo imported water, while also maximizing the cost-
effectiveness of its long-term supply planning.

Attachment
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DATE: October 31, 2025
TO: Board of Directors
FROM: District Treasurer Katarina Garcia

SUBJECT: Quarterly Report Regarding District Investments

The Board of Directors of the Upper San Gabriel Valley Municipal Water District (Upper Water) has adopted a policy
regarding the investment of district funds, The policy established specific guidelines for district investment activity,
delegated investment responsibility and authority to the General Manager and set forth requirements for the Treasurer of
the Board to oversee all Upper Water investment transactions and make regular reports to the Board regarding district
investments. This letter is the Treasurer's Report of Upper Water invesiment activity for the quarter ended September 30,
2025.

As of September 30, 2025, Upper Water had $9,732,017.26 invested in the State of California’s Local Agency Investment
Fund (LAIF), which earned 4.34% during the quarter,

Upper Water investments managed by Chandler Asset Management has a total market value of $5,713,834.90 as of
September 30, 2025. Details are as follows:

Security Type Cost/Book Value Market Value

ABS 5 303,722.66 3 304,222.24
Agency 1,531,643.11 1,559,725.35
Agency CMBS 300,019.53 300,730.63
Money Market Fund 16,370.48 16,370.48
U.S. Corporate 907,696.50 91545592
LS. Treasury 2,409,500.40 2,455,294.19
Supranational 154,743.70 157.936.68
Cash 4,099 41 4,009.41
Totals $ 5,627,795.79 5 5,713,834.90

To the best of my knowledge, as Treasurer of the Upper Water, this report is an accurate representation of district
investments and these investments comply with Upper Water's investment policy and applicable statutes, Detailed
information regarding all Upper Water investments is attached with this memorandum for your review.,

/i Atachments

UPPER SAN GABRIEL VALLEY MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT



10/31/25, 2213 PM

California State Treasurer

Fiona Ma, crA

Local Agency Investment Fund
P.O. Box 942809

LAIF Regular Monthly Statement

October 31, 2025

Sacramento, CA 94209-0001 LAIF Home
(916) 653-3001 PMIA Average Monthly
Yields
UPPER SAN GABRIEL VALLEY MUNICIPAL
WATER DISTRICT
GENERAL MANAGER
248 E. FOOTHILL BLVD, SUITE 200
MONROVIA, CA 91016
Tran Type Definitions
Account Number: 90-19-021
September 2025 Statement
Web
Tran
Effective Transaction Type Confirm Confirm
Date Date  °P° Number Number Authorized Caller Amount
/82025 9/5/2025 RD 1782170 N/A EVELYN RODRIGUEZ 5,300,000.00
0/9/2025  9/9/2025 RD 1782249 N/A EVELYN RODRIGUEZ T00,000.00
0/29/2025 9/24/2025 RW 1782854 N/A EVELYN RODRIGUEZ -1,800,000.00
Account Summary
Total Deposit: 6,000,000.00 Beginning Balance: 5.532,017.26
Total Withdrawal: -1,800,000.00 Ending Balance: 9,732,017.26

hitps:ilaifms.treasurer.ca.gov/RegularStatement.aspx
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3 % PMIA/LAIF Performance Report
] £
B as of 10/22/25
[E il
Quarterly Performance PMIA Average Monthly
Quarter Ended 9/30/25 Effective Yields™!!
LAIF Apportionment Rate'™: 4.34 September 4,212
LAIF Earnings Ratio”:  0.00011893333163814 August  4.251
LAIF Administrative Cost™": 0.26 July 4,258
LAIF Fair Value Factor':  1.001929581 lune  4.269
PMIA Daily'':  4.19 May  4.272
PMIA Quarter to Date’:  4.24 April  4.281

PMIA Average Life': 254

Pooled Money Investment Account
Monthly Portfolio Composition (1)
9/30/25
$161.7 billion

Corporate
Commercial Bonds
Paper 0.58%
Time 5.80%

Certificates of
Deposit/Bank Notes
9.74%

Treasuries
51.39%

Agencies
29.08%

Chart does not include 5387,000.00 in mortgages, which squates to 0.001%. Percentages may not total 100% due to rounding

Daily rates are now available here, View PMIA Daily Rates

Netes: The apportionment rate includes interest earned on the ColPERS Supplemental Pension Payment pursuant to Government Code 20825
fei1).

*The percentage of edministrative cost equals the total administrotive cost divided by the guarterly interest earnings. The low provides that
administrative costs are not to exceed 5% of quorterly EARNINGS of the furd. However, if the 13-week Doily Treasury Bill Rote on the lost doy af
the fiscal year is below IX, then administrative costs sholl not exceed 8% of quarterly EARNINGS of the fund for the subsequent fiscal year,

Source:
tistate of Californda, Office of the Treasurer
i state of California, Office of the Cantroller
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g i Pooled Money Investment Account
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A Market Valuation

L

el
(e 9/30/2025
Carrying Cost Plus :
Description Accrued Interest Purch. Amortized Cost Fair Value Accrued Int

United States Treasury:

Bills 3 39,599,745147.02 |5 3997347190190 | % 39,985,802,450.00 MNA

Notes $ 4349443723954 [§ 4347747889529 |$  43,720,178,000.00 | $ 396,089,
Federal Agency:

SBA g 262,881,87042 | § 262,768,178.80 | § 260,243,12597 | § 1,048,

MBS-REMICs 5 986,577.07 | $ 986,577.07 | § 996,338.26 | $ 4,

Debentures 5 5,820,766,716.29 | § 5,820,766,716.29 | § 5,837,507,030.00 | $ 42,941,

Debentures FR 3 $ - $ - b

Debentures CL 5 3,150,000,000.00 | § 3,150,000,000.00 | $ 3,162,895,050.00 | § 39,918,

Discount Notes 3 34,045,057,20842 | § 3443075156955 | §  34,435,696,650.00 MNA
Supranational Debentures 3 3,735297997.63 | § 3,734,83862261 | § 3,752,739,630.00 | § 27,482,
Supranational Debentures FR | § - |8 - $ $
CDs and YCDs FR 5 $ - $ - 5
Bank Notes 5 200,000,000.00 | § 200,000,000.00 | 5 199,956,589.25 | $ 1,148,
CDs and YCDs 3 15,550,000,000.00 | §  15550,000,000.00 | § 1555364510215 | % 198,281,
Commercial Paper $ 9,375,972,04162 | § 9,473,396,736.20 | § 9,476,638,541.63 MNA
Corporate:

Bonds FR $ - |3 - |s i

Bonds 3 943,615,108.85 | % 943,498,546.35 | § 945273,378.00 | $ 9,127,
Repurchase Agreements $ - |8 - |9 3
Reverse Repurchase $ . 5 - 3 5
Time Deposits 3 5,249,000,000.00 | § 5,249,000,000.00 | 5 5,249,000,000.00 NA
PMIA & GF Loans $ 262,742,740.00 | § 26274274000 | 262,742,740.00 NA
TOTAL $ 161,690,502,646.86 | $§ 162,529,700,484.06 | § 162,843,314,625.26 | § 716,041,
Fair Value Including Accrued Interest § 163,559,355,755.38

Repurchase Agreements, Time Deposits, PMIA & General Fund loans, and
Reverse Repurchase agreements are carried at portfolio book value (carrying cost).

The value of each participating dollar equals the fair value divided by the amortized cost (1.001929581)
As an example: if an agency has an account balance of $20,000,000.00, then the agency would report its
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